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NO UNDERTAKINGS GIVEN DURING THIS HEARING

Tuesday, April 26, 2005

‑‑‑ Upon commencing at 9:30 a.m. 


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  

The Board is sitting today, in the first instance, to review a proposed settlement agreement that was filed on April 7th with the Board by Union Gas Limited.

That agreement followed a settlement conference before the Board on June 29th to 31st.  It arose out of the application of Union Gas dated February 4th, with respect to orders -- request for orders approving certain proposals for 2003 earnings disposition, 2004 deferral account disposition, and 2005 demand-side management. 


The Board notes there was a complete agreement with respect to the settlement, with the exception of two issues.  One was Issue 3A, which related to DSM framework, and the other was Issue 4, which related to the disposition of cushion gas. 


The Board has also received a notice of motion from Enbridge dated April 18th.  Enbridge is seeking orders that the Board not deal with the disposition of Issue 3A; that is to say the request for a generic DSM proceeding involving both Union and Enbridge.  The Board has issued a procedural order in this matter relating to today's proceedings.  That was issued on April 21st.  We have indicated we will hear submissions with respect to the settlement agreement.  We will also hear submissions with respect to the Enbridge motion.


We have indicated in that procedural order, paragraph 3, that we would like to hear submissions from the parties with respect to whether - this is on the cushion gas matter - the Board should proceed to hear argument with respect to whether we should defer this matter pending argument in the Supreme Court of Canada on what is referred to as the ATCO decision involving the AEUB, which has some similarity in terms of the jurisdictional issues with respect to the matter that is before us. 


Can we have the appearances, please?


APPEARANCES: 


MR. PENNY:  I'll go first, Mr. Chairman, since I'm acting for the applicant, Union Gas.  It's Michael Penny. 


MR. WARREN:  Robert Warren for the Consumers Council of Canada. 


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Warren. 


MR. O'LEARY:  Dennis O'Leary for Enbridge Gas Distribution, Mr. Chair. 


MR. KAISER:  Thank you. 


MR. THOMPSON:  Peter Thompson for IGUA. 


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Thompson. 


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Good morning, Mr. Chair and Members of the Panel.  It's Murray Klippenstein for Pollution Probe.  


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. POCH:  David Poch from Green Energy Coalition.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Poch.


MR. RYDER:  Alick Ryder for the City of Kitchener, with Mr. Gruenbauer.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Ryder.


MR. AIKEN:  Randy Aiken on behalf of the London Property Management Association and the Wholesale Gas Purchasers Group.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Jay Shepherd on behalf of the School Energy Coalition. 


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Shepherd.


MR. RYDER:  Murray Ross for TransCanada PipeLines. 


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  


MR. SCULLY:  Peter Scully for Federation of Northern Ontario Municipalities and the Cities of Timmins and Greater Sudbury. 


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Scully. 


MR. JANIGAN:  Michael Janigan on behalf of Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition, and with me is John DeVellis. 


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  


MR. ADAMS:  Tom Adams on behalf of Energy Probe.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Adams.  


MR. LYLE:  Mike Lyle for Board Staff.  

If I could, Mr. Chair, Mr. Pinto is unable to join us this morning because of an urgent court matter.  He represents Canadian Manufacturers and Exporters. 


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Any other preliminary matters, Mr. Lyle?


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:


MR. LYLE:  Perhaps, Mr. Chair, I could introduce some correspondence that may be relevant to the second matter today, the Enbridge motion.  The Board has received correspondence, a letter dated April 8 from the Consumers Council of Canada, to Mr. Wetston, if we could mark that as Exhibit G 1.1.  

EXHIBIT NO. G1.1:  LETTER FROM CONSUMERS COUNCIL OF CANADA TO MR. WETSTON, DATED APRIL 8, 2005

MR. LYLE:  There is a subsequent letter following on that April 8th letter, dated April 22, 2005 from the Public Interest Advocacy Centre.  We will mark that as Exhibit G1.2. 

EXHIBIT NO. G1.2:  LETTER FROM THE PUBLIC INTEREST ADVOCACY CENTRE DATED APRIL 22, 2005


MR. LYLE:  And then there is a letter received yesterday from Enbridge, dated April 25, 2005, in response to the April 8th letter, and we will mark that as Exhibit G1.3.

EXHIBIT NO. G1.3:  LETTER FROM ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION, DATED APRIL 25, 2005


MR. LYLE:  And we do have copies, Mr. Chair, and we will circulate those around.  


MR. KAISER:  Was there a letter that came in from Enbridge this morning?


MR. LYLE:  Yes.  That's the April 25th letter, Mr. Chair. 


MR. KAISER:  Fine, thank you.  


MR. KAISER:  Are you going to be distributing copies, Mr. Lyle?


MR. LYLE:  Yes, Mr. Chair.  


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Penny.  


MR. PENNY:  Yes, Mr. Chair, with your leave, we thought Mr. Packer, who is the director of regulatory affairs, would speak to you on the settlement agreement itself, excluding the 3A issue, of course.  


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Go ahead, Mr. Packer.  


PRESENTATION OF SETTLEMENT PROPOSAL:


MR. PACKER:  Good morning, Panel.  I'm here this morning to present to you the proposed settlement agreement under docket number EB-2005-0211. 


The issues that are described in the settlement agreement fall under one of these categories:  When an issue was resolved with complete settlement, where there was no settlement, or where there was partial settlement.  


There are four issues described in the settlement agreement, the first one being the 2004 deferral accounts; second, 2003 earnings sharing; third, DSM issues; and, fourth, cushion gas disposition. 


I will start first with the deferral accounts.  The settlement agreements breaks the deferral accounts down into three categories:  Gas supply-related deferral accounts, S and T-related deferral, and other deferral accounts.  


The parties have accepted Union's evidence with respect to actual final year-end, 2004 year-end balances, in the proposed allocation of rate classes.  With respect to the disposition of the deferral accounts, Union had proposed that for rate M2, rate 01 and rate 10, which are general service rate classes, that the combined total of the 2003 earnings sharing and 2004 deferral account balance not managed through the end process be disposed of prospectively over the period July 1st, 2005 through to the end of December 31st, 2005.  For in-franchise contract rate classes and ex-franchise rate classes, Union is proposing to dispose of the net amount related to 2003 earnings sharing and 2004 deferral account balances as a one-time credit.  The parties have agreed with Union's evidence on this matter.  


The second issue was 2003 earnings sharing.  Solely for the purposes of this agreement, parties have agreed to accept an earnings sharing amount of $14 million related to 2003, which is the last year of Union's three-year trial PBR plan.  


This is a without-prejudice agreement and in no way would relate to the possibility of Union purchasing any weather hedge instrument in the future.  There was an issue with respect to how the weather hedge instrument we entered into for 2003 should be handled, and that's contributed to the settlement in this regard, with respect to the $14 million being the amount to be shared with ratepayers.  


In terms of the allocation methodology, Union proposed to use the 1999 approved return on equity allocation to rate classes.  This is how deferral account balances had been disposed of through the three-year PBR term.  All parties had accepted Union's proposal with respect to this issue.  


Moving on to the third issue, which is the DSM-related issues, I won't touch on item 3A, which is the subject of discussion in a few minutes.  I will touch on the components of our 2005 plan, where there was a complete settlement.  


I will deal with the target issue first.  For 2005, parties have agreed to a stretch target of 88.5 million cubic metres, which equates to $100 million in total resource cost savings.  Parties have also agreed that an SSM, or shared-savings mechanism, would be in place for 2005, where an incentive would start to be available for TRC savings in excess of $75 million.  As TRC savings increased in magnitude, the amount of the incentive would decrease as per the schedule identified in the settlement agreement.  In terms of a DSM budget, parties have accepted that a direct DSM budget of 7.75 million related to DSM for 2005 would be appropriate, with indirect expenses of $1.7 million. 

     Parties have accepted an LRAM for 2005, which is a lost revenue adjustment mechanism, in addition to a DSM variance account.  The DSM variance account would capture the difference between what we actually spend on DSM and what has been included in rates, which is currently 4.0 million.

     Spending up to the 7.75 million budget, the parties had accepted would be recoverable from ratepayers.  Union would not be entitled to any recovery of additional dollars, unless we achieved our target volume savings of 88.5 million cubic metres.  Amounts recorded in the DSMVA will not exceed 20 percent of the approved direct DSM budget of 7.75 million.  And any excess over the approved DSM budget must be for incremental DSM savings that are cost-effective as determined by the TRC test.    

     The parties have accepted the appropriateness of establishing a SSM variance account, and any SSM amounts would be allocated on the basis of DSM volume savings achieved by rate class.  

     All parties, except for CME, which takes no position, agree to the input assumptions that have been specified in the appendix C to the agreement.  With respect to future commitments, Union has agreed to include specific proposals for performance incentives for progress toward market transformation in its 2006 to 2008 DSM plan, which we plan to file later on this year.  

     The last issue under the DSM category is that all parties agree that the 2005 SSM would be outside of earnings-sharing mechanisms. 

     Moving on to the last topic, which is cushion gas disposition, the Board's November 19th, 2004, decision held that the treatment of the proceeds of the sale of cushion gas in 2004 was to be addressed in this proceeding.  Accordingly, Union filed evidence in response to the Board's direction.  There was no settlement of this issue. 

     That concludes my presentation of the proposed settlement agreement.  

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Packer. 

     Any of the parties wish to comment on the characterization of the settlement agreement? 

     All right.

     Mr. Lyle, how do you want to proceed?  

     MR. LYLE:  Mr. Chair, if there is no further comment from parties on the settlement agreement, perhaps -- I don't know if the Board wishes to accept it or wishes to reserve at this time on it. 

     MR. KAISER:  I think we will reserve at the moment. 

Let's hear the motion. 

     Is there a matter before the motion?  

     MR. LYLE:  No, Mr. Chair, there isn't. 

     So if we could move then to Mr. O’Leary. 

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

     Mr. O'Leary?  


MOTION BY ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION:

     SUBMISSIONS BY MR. O’LEARY:

MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

     For the purposes of the motion today, Enbridge Gas Distribution forwarded to the Board a compendium of materials that I would hope each of the Panel Members have with you.  

     MR. KAISER:  This is your motion record? 

     MR. O'LEARY:  You may call it that, sir, that's fine.

     There is one matter I draw to your attention.  That is at tab number 3, there is a copy of -- what was intended to be a full copy of Procedural Order No. 1.  You will note that we have inadvertently excluded page 2 of that procedural order.  I do have additional copies in the back room, if that would be helpful.  It is something we simply missed in the photocopying.  Nothing turns on it, but I will direct your attention to that. 

     Thank you.

     If I could, Members of the Panel, turn, each of you, to the notice of motion, which is at tab 1, and briefly reference the relief that Enbridge is seeking today, which is set out in paragraphs 1 through 4.  It is our respectful submission that the Board may make an order in respect of each of the items addressed there.  And any one of them would, in effect, require the Panel to, if I may say, stand down in respect to issue 3A.

     But the nut of the motion being brought today is really twofold.  One, that the matter was never put before this Panel, and, therefore, never made known to parties such as Enbridge to participate and to file evidence in respect of.  And secondly, it is a matter that is more properly brought before the Board, at large, rather than this specific Panel, and that it is the Board, at large, which should be dealing with the matter and, in fact, responding to the CCC letter, having reviewed and considered the submissions that Enbridge and other entities have now made to the CCC letter.  It is that Board, at large, that should be dealing with the whole issue of whether a generic proceeding is appropriate or not.

     Mr. Chair, starting with the first point, which is, essentially, that the issue was not before this Panel.  At tab 2 is the covering letter that accompanied the application that was filed by Union Gas, dated February 4th, 2005.  And in that, we see that Mr. Packer has attempted to summarize, right at the beginning, in the first paragraph, the three bullets, and the second paragraph, the relief sought by Union Gas in this particular proceeding.  

     I won't walk you through it, other than to note that the third bullet relates to Union's proposed 2005 DSM plan, including proposed changes to Union's DSM program to significantly increase Union's DSM volume target and budget, a proposal to amend the existing DSM variance account, and a proposal to establish a new shared-savings mechanism deferral account.  There is nothing, sir, in there that references a request for a generic proceeding, a review of the framework between Union and Enbridge Gas Distribution.  It is simply something that was not requested.  

     Also under that tab, sir, is a copy of the application that accompanied the letter.  And at page 2, you will note, at paragraph number 6, there is a greater degree of specificity as to what Union is seeking in respect of DSM.  And once again, we see no mention to the need for or request that this Panel consider whether or not a generic proceeding involving Union and Enbridge Gas Distribution should occur.  

     This Panel, then, proceeded to issue Procedural Order No. 1, which, as I indicated earlier, is at tab 3 of the materials before you, sir.  

     MR. KAISER:  Yes.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  And you will see that it has identified the issues which are before this Panel for the purposes of adjudicating upon the Union application.  And it sets out, in those three bullets, what it is that the Board -- this Panel has determined are the issues.  And also, in the paragraph following that bullet - I will read it, since the top of page 2 may be missing from your motion record - but this Panel has determined that one of the issues that is before it for adjudication is, and I quote: 

“Union also proposed changes to its DMS plan for 2005, including increases in its volume target and budget, amending it's existing DSM variance account and establishing a shared-savings mechanism, SSM, deferral account.”

And it goes on to simply indicate that there was prefiled evidence that accompanied the application. 

     The procedural order then went on in the usual course to set out the time lines for parties to file evidence, for interrogatories to be exchanged and answered, and what was initially thought to be the date for the presentation of any settlement proposal and for the settlement conference.

At tab 4, sir, you will see that, in Procedural Order No. 2, there were some changes to those dates to accompany the conflicts that various counsel had with respect to scheduling, but the orders in respect to the filing of

evidence and the exchange of interrogatories remained the same.


Procedural Order No. 3 we have included for convenience at tab 5, and that simply deals with today.


Sir, at tab 6 we have included a portion of the Union filing itself; first, the index, and you will note that at page 2 of the index, tab 4 relates to all of the materials that Union filed in respect of DSM.  


We've then included a copy of Exhibit A, tab 4, page 1 through 9, which is, if I may call it, the summary of what Union is seeking in respect of the DSM aspects of its application.  


And without walking you through it in any great detail, our submission is, sir, that there is not a hint of a request for a generic proceeding or review of the framework of Union's programs relative to Enbridge Gas Distribution.  We do note that they were looking for approval, which, assuming that this Panel does accept the settlement proposal which was put forward -‑ I note there was complete settlement in respect of the DSM aspects of Union's application, which means that if you view the settlement as in the public interest, then the DSM plan, as filed by Union, will be approved.  There is nothing that is required from this Panel any further in respect of Union's 2005 DSM plan.


It does indicate, at page 9 - this is again at tab 6 of Union's filing - that it plans to file a multi-year plan for the years 2006 through 2008, and, if I read it correctly, their expected filing date is around the end of September of this year.  That's in the last paragraph on page 9.


If I may then, sir, turn you to the wording of the issue that is of concern to Enbridge, specifically.  At tab 7, page 5 of the settlement proposal deals with the issue.  And I should start by noting right at the beginning that it is a partial settlement, which, it is our submission, means that there is no settlement.  The matter would normally be in a separate issue as framed, be live and something, therefore, that would require this Panel to consider the evidence before it and to make a ruling one way or the other in respect of the request being made.  


There is no evidence that's been filed by Enbridge.  It is our submission that by reason of the fact that there was no issue that was framed by this Panel that would require it or would have led it to believe that there was any need to file evidence in respect of whether or not a generic proceeding, a comprehensive generic proceeding, which I will explain why I use that language in a second, should proceed.



Under the rules of the Board's practice and procedure, where there is a party that is not in agreement with a settlement proposal, that matter then goes forward and is live for the oral hearing.  And, in this case, we are in a position whereby there is no record, at least that has been put forward by Enbridge, and we respectfully submit that if you look at Union's application, there is nothing that would support or speaks to the need for or the public interest of proceeding with a generic comprehensive DSM proceeding.


There is also, in our submission, no evidence that has been filed by the parties in addition to the applicant, the other intervenors, that speaks to the subject, as well.  


If we look at the actual wording of the issue as framed ‑ and it is framed as an issue - this isn't an add-on indicating that the parties have assumed this or that the parties commit themselves to proceed in the event that the Board, at large, decides.  This is framed as a separate issue.  


And if we look at the seven or so bullets that are at the bottom of page 5 and 6, you will see that it involves virtually every aspect of both Union's and Enbridge's DSM programs and, as read, would not simply invite parties to look at whether or not there is uniformity and sufficient commonality between the programs of Union and Enbridge, but, rather, whether or not some of these should even exist.  


Had there been evidence filed by Enbridge, the position that I believe would have been taken is that there already exist certain degrees of commonality, and that certainly if you have had an opportunity to review the letter that has been filed by the company in response to the CCC letter, that is what the company has said, but in our respectful submission, that's the right forum.  The decision in respect of whether a generic proceeding takes place should be made by the Board, at large.  That's where the request has now gone, and we submit that that is where the decision should be made.  In fact, there is, therefore, as a result of that letter alone, no reason for this Panel to give any consideration to issue 3A at all.  


MR. KAISER:  Mr. O'Leary, can I ask, when did you first get notice that this was an issue, if I can use that term?  You've pointed out it wasn't in the application.  How it did it arise? 


MR. O'LEARY:  It arises formally as a result of receipt of the settlement proposal, which is the tab 7 of the attached materials.


MR. KAISER:  But did this arise in the settlement discussions, this issue?


MR. O'LEARY:  I don't believe I am at liberty to speak to what occurred during the settlement conference.


MR. KAISER:  I am just asking whether it was an issue in that proceeding, or not.


MR. O'LEARY:  I think -- 


MR. PENNY:  I think Mr. O'Leary would be right if what we were talking about is the positions that people adopted in exchanges that were given during the context of the settlement agreement, but there is no doubt - and I think it is clear as a result of the fact that it ends up in here - that it was raised as an issue during the settlement conference, and Enbridge were participants in the settlement conference.


MR. KAISER:  That was my next question.  You participated in the settlement conference, I take it?


MR. O'LEARY:  In fact, I'm advised in respect of the issue dealing with the scope of DSM is that, in fact, Enbridge was excluded and asked to leave.  


MR. KAISER:  So you didn't participate?


MR. THOMPSON:  That's not correct.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Thompson.


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, please.  There was no issues list in this case.  Before there could be any discussion of the topics raised in the application, the parties took it upon themselves to develop a list of topics that the application raised.  And one of the topics, under the general heading "DSM Issues", was DSM framework, and the second topic was the sub B, and Enbridge participated in that discussion and agreed to that listing.  That became the framework for the discussion of positions on these matters.


MR. KAISER:  That was going to be my next question, Mr. O'Leary.  Did you object when this arose in the settlement conference?  Did you object to it being an issue?


MR. O'LEARY:  Without violating the rules, sir - obviously I wish to limit my comments - but my understanding is that, at a minimum, concern was expressed about the breadth of what was being discussed and that there was no acceptance of this as being an issue in this proceeding.  


MR. KAISER:  So you don't agree with Mr. Thompson?


MR. O'LEARY:  Sir, we don't.  Our position is this: that Panel properly framed the issues and there is an issues list and that -- 


MR. KAISER:  I'm not talking about the Panel.  I'm talking about the settlement conference.  He says you accepted it as an issue at the settlement conference.  Is that wrong?


MR. O'LEARY:  It is wrong, sir.


MR. KAISER:  I take it you weren't there personally?


MR. O'LEARY:  I was not, sir.



MR. THOMPSON:  When I say they accepted, they accepted the words "DSM framework".


MR. KAISER:  Maybe they didn't know what it meant.


MR. O'LEARY:  Well, sir, we still don't ‑‑


MR. THOMPSON:  They also accepted the words "other DSM issues", and then that elaborated into --


MR. KAISER:  Sorry, Mr. O'Leary, I didn't mean to interrupt you.

MR. O'LEARY:  That's fine.  But Mr. Thompson raises a good point.  We still don't know what the issue itself is, and we respectfully submit that this Panel should have the same concerns about what it is being asked to approve or disapprove.  Is it asking for a full and complete, comprehensive review as to whether or not -- not just whether there is commonality between Union and Enbridge, but whether some of these programs exist. 

     If you think about it, there are certain parties that have historically had an ideological bent against DSM, that have appeared before this Board on many occasions.  And their positions may well be that uniformity means both companies do not have an LRAM, or both companies do not have a DSMVA, or both companies have a budget that’s half of what they would otherwise have presented. 

     So is it a complete review?  And that's certainly one interpretation we could give to it.  And that's the confusion and the concern that the company has, is that it is going back to square one, and forgetting about the whole decade of experience that exists and all of the Board decisions, and the consideration that the Board has given to DSM programs of both Union and Enbridge Gas Distribution over the past decade.  

     The concern as well, sir - and it’s an important one to Enbridge - is the fact that it has filed its 2006 rates application in an application which has been given docket 2005-0001.  And in that, there was a multi-year plan that has been filed by the company for which it is seeking approval so it can have its rates in place by January 1st, 2006.  

     If we think, just for a moment, about what is involved here, if we think of all the steps that would be required as set out in the issue as framed, number 1 is the requirement that - and I'm looking halfway down page 6 of the issue as framed itself, the second bullet - the requirement that Union file its evidence with respect to DSM framework issues. 

     Well, Union has stated in their application they expect to do that late September.  So that’s the starting point.  That's when the pistol goes off. 

     Then we look at all of the steps that would be required for the generic proceeding, which are contemplated here.  The next bullet in the issue, provisions pertaining to interrogatories and responses thereto, and the filing of evidence by intervenors and/or Board Staff.  Then the scheduling of a settlement conference and an oral hearing.

     If you think about the time that’s required for parties to fully participate, to file evidence -- and as you can imagine there may be a substantial amount of expert evidence that would be required from various jurisdictions.  And then, at the conclusion, after the Board's rendered its decision in respect to the generic proceeding, both Union and Enbridge would have to go back to the drawing board, compare the DSM plans which they have now filed in this other proceeding which I mentioned, and Union's, which will be developed by the end of September, they’d have to then amend their plans to make them consistent with the Board's decision. 

     And we go through the whole process again because there are rate implications of those DSM plans which would not have been included in Enbridge's 2006 rates, because we've now gone past the end of the year.  And the Board would then be left with a situation of facing a further hearing in respect to the DSM issues alone in respect of the two companies. 

     The concern from Enbridge's perspective - an important one, again - is that by the Board -- this Panel either approving a generic proceeding, which we respectfully submit is not something before you, and not something that you have the delegated authority to do, would necessarily have an impact on its application for approval for its 2006 rates.

     We see it as a virtual impossibility that the generic proceeding could be completed and changes made to its DSM plan to make it consistent with whatever the decisions of the Board are, and to have it in place -- and approvals for that new DSM plan to be in place by January 1st, 2006.  

     It means that there would not be prospective rate- making in respect of the DSM portion of Enbridge's application.       


MR. KAISER:  Now, is that your main concern, that it is going to hold up your 2006 rates?  If the generic proceeding, just assume, related to 2007 rates --

     MR. O'LEARY:  Sir -- 


MR. KAISER:  -- would you care?  


MR. O'LEARY:  -- in fact, I invite you to look at the response by Enbridge.  And I understand you haven’t noticed it, because it was just delivered to you.  But if you look at the very last paragraph, what the company has indicated that it is prepared to do, even though it doesn't believe that a generic proceeding is needed or necessary, it does indicate that it would be willing to facilitate a technical workshop to review framework issues around DSM for both Union and Enbridge, upon the conclusion of the 2006 rates case, for both Union and Enbridge.

     So the answer, sir, is that the concern is 2006, and that, if the generic proceeding was to occur and to have a perspective view that -- of 2007, or whenever, the company would be satisfied with that.  

     MR. BETTS:  Can I just follow up with that question and say, in that sense, your -- I believe your proposal in the application for 2006 rates includes a multi-year DSM plan.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  It does, sir. 

     MR. BETTS:  So are you suggesting then that Enbridge would be prepared to look at the DSM plan on a one year basis, starting in 2006, and be prepared to modify the plan going beyond that?

    
MR. O'LEARY:  Certainly, that's not my understanding, sir.  The company is still looking for approval for a three-year plan.  But if there were results -- agreements reached as a result of a technical workshop that had an impact on how elements of that three-year plan should be amended, I'm sure the company would look at that and seek appropriate amendments to any existing order.  But the company wishes to proceed with the three-year plan. 

     And, Mr. Betts, that actually leads me to my next point, which is that, in the 2005 rate case -- if I could turn you to tab 8, the settlement proposal, June 17th, 2004 - which was accepted by the Panel of which you were the Chair, Mr. Betts - the last paragraph of page 34, there was a complete settlement.

     Now, I draw your attention to the top where it says "Partial Settlement".  But the only reason why there was a partial settlement is that everything was agreed upon, with the exception of Pollution Probe sought an additional matter, and you will see that that is confirmed on the very next page.  So, in fact, there was a complete settlement in respect of this aspect of the DSM plan.  And that is, in the last paragraph, the company agreed to file a longer-term strategic DSM plan on or before January 1st, 2005, and goes on to say they would share it with -- the company would share it with intervenors, receive comments, and that would be filed with the Board.

     So what Enbridge has done is completely consistent with the settlement that all parties agreed to last year, and which Enbridge was obligated to do, which it did file as part of its 2006 rates application 

     So it’s -- the concern is not just the impact on 2006 rates.  It’s a concern that parties -- some parties are attempting to sidestep an agreement they made last year.  We say that -- we submit that is inappropriate.  

     MR. KAISER:  Does that agreement cover your next rate case?  

     MR. O'LEARY:  I'm sorry, sir?

     MR. KAISER:  Does that agreement you're referring to cover your most recent application?  

     MR. O'LEARY:  Well, it obligated the company to file, as part of its most recent application, the multi-year plan.  And what it means is that each of the intervenors that participated in that settlement agreement not only understood that a multi-year plan would be forthcoming, they agreed to it, and that was the condition of the settlement.  And to now take a position which would draw into question that, put the consideration by the Panel that is to hear the 2006 rates case -- to, in effect, suspend their consideration of it, our submission is that that is tantamount to resiling from the settlement agreement in a previous year. 

     Just to round out the record, sir, we included at tab 9 a copy of the Enbridge application, which was filed on April 13th, 2005, which has been given docket 2005-0001.  We’ve included at tab 10 a copy of the index simply to indicate that there has been a significant amount of work undertaken.  You will find that the DSM series of evidence is found at Exhibit A7, tabs 1 through 13.  And, obviously, I haven't gone on to reproduce all of the materials.  

     And then, for reference, we’ve included the next two tabs, both relevant portions of the Act and the Rules.  And I only intend to take you to one portion of the Act, in my submissions, on jurisdiction.  And that is the sixth page in, under tab 11, under section 4.3, the Energy Board Act provides: 

“The Chair may assign one or more members of the Board to a panel to hear or determine any matter, and, for that purpose, the panel has all the jurisdiction and powers of the Board.”


The important words, we submit, sir, are "... to hear or determine any matter, and, for that purpose..." and the purpose, we submit, that this Panel has been struck and the authority it has been given is to hear the application by Union, which it framed and which we submit this Panel confirmed in its Procedural Order No. 1, and that's the extent of the purpose; and that Issue 3A asked this Panel to do something beyond the authority that the Board, at large, has given to this Panel.


Mr. Chair, this is not the first time that this sort of issue has arisen in the context of an application.  As Mr. Betts may recall, it came up several times last year in the 2005 rates case of Enbridge.  And at tab 13, sir, we have included copies of elements of the settlement proposal which was approved by the Board, and I direct you to the fourth page in, right at the very top, page 10 of 59 of the approved settlement proposal, that reads:

"In a number of places the settlement proposal proposes that policy issues be considered in the Natural Gas Policy Review.  The parties have agreed to these proposals on the assumption that the Natural Gas Policy Review will be a funded process in which all stakeholders have a full opportunity to participate.  If this is not the case, then the parties intend to reference the Natural Gas Policy Review to refer to an appropriate alternative forum that would be a funded process in which all stakeholders have a full opportunity to participate, such as a subsequent rate case or generic proceeding."


It's our respectful submission, sir, that that is the right place to make reference to a possible generic proceeding, not as a separate issue in and of itself.  

If I could move you along three more pages, sir, I will take you to page 19 of that settlement proposal.  In the second sentence on that page, you will note that the following reference exists:

"The parties understand that a policy review will be conducted in the context of the Board's Natural Gas Policy Review, in order to provide guidance on fundamental system gas fee and DPAC policy issues, including but not limited to..."


And I won't continue.  But, again, we say that that is the appropriate way to make reference to a potential generic proceeding in the future, is to indicate that an agreement may have been based on an assumption, but not to invite the existing Panel to make a ruling as to whether or not it is appropriate or, indeed, as Enbridge submits in ‑‑ given the wording of Issue 3A here, it is open to certain intervenors to argue that this Panel is being asked to actually order the proceeding.  And the concern is that some intervenors may, in fact, take that position, that whatever the decision is on this Panel, if it is approving Issue 3A, that that will be seen as an approval for the generic proceeding and, therefore, assuming that one will actually occur.


On the very next page, sir, there is similarly reference at Issue 5.5 to the Natural Gas Policy Review.  I won't belabour the point.  


If I could then turn you to the presentation of the settlement proposal itself, which are the next several pages under tab 13.


The first page at the paragraph right at the top, paragraph 2.05, Mr. Cass speaks to several of these issues, and you will note that he references there a complete settlement and it reflects the understanding of the parties that guidance on these particular issues will or may arise on the Board's Natural Gas Policy Review.  


He goes on to say later in the paragraph that essentially the agreement is to maintain the status quo; that is, to maintain those two charges at 2004 levels.  The agreement is also to address and implement Board directions from the Natural Gas Policy Review in 2006 case or the 2007 case, if direction is not available for 2006.


Again, we submit that that is the way to deal with potential generic proceedings down the road, rather than asking a particular Panel to make a ruling one way or the other.  


On the very next page, beginning at paragraph 389, several questions from the Presiding Panel were asked, including the following question by Mr. Betts, where he asks at 391:

"Specifically, there are several mentions here to the Natural Gas Forum with respect to how funding might be established for the Natural Gas Forum and what matters might be included in there.  This Panel is not in a position to determine either of those questions, one, the nature of any funding supporting that process, nor can it, at this stage, reasonably determine the subject matter."


Then there is some discussion with several other counsel for the intervenors, beginning with Mr. Shepherd at 394, who states:

"Mr. Chairman, the wording surrounding funding and access to those processes is one that was very important to my client, and our interpretation of the settlement agreement that is before you is the parties as a group are proposing that certain issues be deferred to a generic policy process, of which the Natural Gas Policy Review may be one; and to that particular process, if is appropriately inclusive and participatory, and, if not, we're asking the Board to defer it to another process that does meet that criteria."


He goes on to say:   

"And we understand that the Board can't decide that today but can, as you do sometimes in decisions at the end of hearings, say we think this is more appropriate in a generic process."


Sir, our submission is that Mr. Shepherd is in agreement with the motion, based upon his past submissions to a prior panel.

I go on at paragraph 398, where Mr. Betts states that "Actually", right at the bottom of the page, sir:

"Actually, I thank you.  I was certainly aware of the reference by Mr. Cass to what I just read to you at the top of page 10 of the settlement proposal."


And he goes on to state:

"I wanted to make certain what my understanding was.  It does indicate, the one sentence that caught my attention was that..."


And Mr. Betts quotes:

"'The parties have agreed to these proposals on the assumption that the Natural Gas Policy Review will be a funded process in which all stakeholders have a full opportunity to participate.'" 


Mr. Betts goes on to say: 

"There was some uncertainty at this point as to whether this panel can, in any way, confirm or deny or reject that assumption, and the assumption may simply have to stand and I'm trusting that it doesn't weaken the foundation of the settlement, if that is the situation."


There is then some further discussion by various counsel and I won't, again, belabour the point, but I would direct you to a further position taken by Mr. Shepherd, which is at paragraph 417, which is the next page over.  And we're still dealing with the discussion of the Natural Gas Policy Review, and Mr. Shepherd states, very last paragraph:   

"Frankly, our expectation was that the Board would say, 'We can't order that', which you clearly can't, but that you could recommend it and that, in the event that it turned out that that wasn't the case, we would then -- we would then come before the Board in the future, at that time the decision is made, and say to the Board, ‘We lost this opportunity and we want it back.’"


If I may, then, towards the end of that tab, sir, take you to the Board's decision in respect to the settlement proposal, the very last page.  At paragraph 36, the Panel made the following decision in respect of the settlement proposal:

"With respect to the comments of the settlement proposal regarding the Natural Gas Policy review, the Board notes the assumptions made about funding for participants and the issues to be considered at the forum.  The Board also notes that parties to the settlement proposal have agreed that if the subject issues are not included in a funded Natural Gas Policy Forum, that they should be considered in an appropriate alternate forum, such as a subsequent rate case or a generic process which would provide funding for the full participation of all stakeholders.  While this Panel of the Board is supportive of the participation of intervenors and the consideration of the issues in question, this Panel cannot determine the nature or extent of funding for the referenced forum.  Likewise, this Panel cannot establish the list of issues that the forum will address."


Sir, I had intended to walk you through a similar-type issue that arose of that proceeding that was with respect to the class action deferral account, and I will just direct your attention to the relevant portions.  The third page in, which is page 40 of the settlement proposal, references that portion of the settlement proposal and the view of parties that issues relating to the cost recovery of numbers that are included in a class-action deferral account would be better dealt with in a generic proceeding 

     And then, I would refer you to the comments by Mr. Betts -- very last page under that tab 14, at paragraph 32, where Mr. Betts, who was the Presiding Member, indicates that -- I should say paragraph 34: 

“The Panel's statement is that this Panel of the Board cannot confirm that the Board will undertake a generic proceeding dealing with utility late-payment penalties." 

So it was another occasion during that proceeding where that Panel made it clear to parties that it did not have the authority to make decisions one way or the other in respect of a generic proceeding.  

     Tab 15, I will not take you to, other than to indicate that it is an example of a prior occasion where a request was made by parties to defer decisions that the Board was asked to make by an applicant, in that case Enbridge, and to defer making a decision pending a generic proceeding.  And the Board declined that.  And it was a motion brought by intervenors requesting the deferral, and it was declined.  

     In summary, Mr. Chair, it is our respectful submission that this Panel need not deal with issue 3A for a number of reasons.  The first is that it is not before this Panel.  The second is that the matter is not within the jurisdictional competence of this Panel, by reason of the fact that it is not required to adjudicate on it, was not 

-- this Panel was not struck for the purpose of dealing with the issue of whether a generic proceeding involving Enbridge and Union should take place.  And, perhaps most importantly, because the matter is already before the Board, at large, and a separate request in this proceeding would, at best, be redundant and perhaps, at worst, conflicting, in the event that this Panel was to make a ruling which was contrary to what the Board, at large, has been invited to do by CCC. 

     The Board, at large, will undoubtedly review the letters that it has received from CCC and from Enbridge, and will make a decision in respect of whether or not a generic proceeding should or should not proceed.  It is, therefore, in our respectful submission, inappropriate for this Panel to be, perhaps, second-guessing or foreshadowing what the Board may, in fact, ultimately rule.

     Those are our submissions, sir.  If there are any questions, of course -- 

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you, sir.

     Mr. Penny?

     MR. PENNY:  Yes, Mr. Chairman. 

     Union's opposing the relief sought in the motion, but I wonder, as the capital-A applicant, whether I might be given the indulgence of going last among the responders?  

     MR. KAISER:  That’s fine.

     Mr. Warren -- 

     MR. POCH:  -- Mr. Chairman?  

     Sorry, Mr. Chair, I was just going to say, in fairness to my friends, although I -- we are signatories to 3A and supportive of it, my position may be somewhat closer to Enbridge's than other parties and, in fairness to my friends, it may be appropriate for me to precede them. 

     MR. KAISER:  Fine. Go ahead, Mr. Poch. 


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. POCH:

     MR. POCH:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 

     First of all, Mr. Chairman, before I embark on that, I just bring one other related matter to the Board's attention.  Union has filed a letter with the Board, I believe it is dated last week, April 18th, concerning its plans for 2006 rates, more generally, and that it would not -- it is not currently planning to bring forward an application with respect to 2006 rates.  It is silent on the question of DSM. 

     And I just wanted to be clear that this item 3A includes a statement that all parties - and, of course, Union is a signatory to this - are limiting the agreement in this ADR to 2005 and, without prejudice, to the period 2006 forward, the assumption being at that time that it would be an opportunity for the parties to engage in a discussion, negotiation hearing, what have you, with respect to DSM -- Union's DSM plan 2006 forward. 

     I don't believe that Union has any other intention, but I thought out of an abundance of caution I would just, perhaps, through you, Mr. Chairman, invite Mr. Penny to clarify on the record, today, it is still Union's intention to bring forward whatever the outcome of today's motion, a 2006 DSM proposal, it might be a multi-year proposal, that will be before the parties and before the Board in some fashion. 

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  

     MR. PENNY:  Well, up until the last sentence I was following.  I'm not sure I'm in a position to clarify what Union’s position is -- position, irrespective of the outcome of this motion, because that may have implications for the settlement agreement, which I would just need to think through.  But if -- I thought the point was that Union has agreed that this is - and it never was anything else - a 2005 DSM plan, only.  And I think Mr. O'Leary made reference to the evidence that says that Union will consult with a consultant and its industry partners in developing a 2006 to 2008 plan, and expects to, you know, deal with that in due course. 

     So whether we're in for a rate case or not, for 2006, the DSM plan, as proposed - and as originally proposed and as contemplated in the settlement, so they're consistent in that respect - only went for the 2005 year. 

     So we have to deal with 2006 forward in some way or another.  So my response to Mr. Poch, leaving aside the issue about the outcome of the motion as such, is that, Yes, Union will be proceeding to file some other DSM plan to pick up on January 1, 2006, going forward.  We'll have to.  

     MR. KAISER:  Does that assist you, Mr. Poch? 

     MR. POCH:  That's very helpful.  Thank you, and I thank Mr. Penny. 

     Mr. Chairman, turning to item 3A more specifically.  Our support for this section of the agreement was prefaced on our understanding that it was a practical proposal, that is, that, in fact, it is possible to have some coordinated or joint process which considers the matters that 3A asks the Board to consider in time for both utilities to be able to set -- have rates set prospectively for 2006.  And that, I think, is clear from a reading of 3A.  It is quite explicit, in fact, in the recitals therein, that everyone anticipated that that was the intent and presumably was possible. 

     So I should say that, if the Board finds, as a result of submissions it hears today, or subsequently, that it’s simply not practical to implement this proposal, then the matter is moot and you need not go on and consider Enbridge's submissions on whether, in fact, you have jurisdiction to request such a subsequent proceeding of Union or of Enbridge.  

     Now, up until today, I thought that Enbridge's motion was a bit of an overkill in response to that.  I thought this may put up somewhat of a challenge for the utilities.  But having today received the copies of letters from Consumers Council and VECC, which I had not previously received, it's apparent that there may be two versions floating around of what is being asked of this joint process.

     If you look at 3A, the very opening is, in our submission, what 3A should be about; that is, that all parties except Enbridge agree that consideration should be given to whether certain features of the DSM framework for Union and EGD -- the DSM framework issues should be the same for both utilities.  

     It was that narrow question which we thought there was value - and continue to feel there is value - in the Board considering at some time, to help bring consistency or encourage consistency, assuming the Board agrees that there are items where there should be consistency, between the two utilities, and help avoid duplication and ease the regulatory burden for everybody.  

     We did not see 3A - and we do not see the partial agreement in 3A - as calling on the Board to hold a massive, generic proceeding, analogous to the EBO-169 three-step proceeding, which created the Bible, if you will, for conservation amongst gas utilities in Ontario, which we continue to follow in some loose fashion.  It's apparent that -- at least, that CCC, in fact, would like such a proceeding, arguably because they have written a letter to the Chairman.  Implicit in that is an acknowledgement that is not what 3A is asking for.  But I fear that they may well have equated the agreement in 3A to a request for such a proceeding. 


So I wish to be very clear, Mr. Chairman, we do not support such a broad generic proceeding.  We don't view 3A as supporting it, nor -- indeed, we will in due course write to the Chairman and to the Board as a whole indicating our position and we don't feel it is necessary to embark on such a joint process.  


Certainly we don't want to see such a proceeding occur in any way that would delay the orderly rolling out of the existing DSM practices.


We feel that 3A, if you take it in my narrower read, is a practical option that can be done in a timely fashion.  If the Board ‑‑ assuming the Board accepts the balance of this ADR agreement on DSM, we're now in a situation where the ‑‑ most of the framework elements, as they have been enumerated here for the two utilities, are already very similar.  They both have SSM ‑‑ will have -- again, subject to the Board accepting this agreement, both have SSMs which kick in at a trigger point, which have block rates, if you will, descending block rates.  And, of course, if the Board compares the architecture of those block rates that is proposed for Union here, with the existing one for Enbridge, you will see a striking similarity; very similar DSMVAs, LMs, auditor, audit committee.  And, indeed, the ADR agreement before you invites the Board - and Union agrees - to a clearance, set of clearance rules for how the inputs get set and how things get cleared, ultimately, that simply adopts, with very few changes, the Enbridge rules that were agreed to in a previous proceeding with Enbridge.  


So we're very close to having this common framework, and we recognize that both utilities are now coming forward with new three-year plans and there is potential for divergence, and it was really only that narrow question that we feel needs and would benefit by a joint process at this time.  


Are the utilities continuing to walk down a common path, increasingly so, and should be encouraged to do so, or is there some potential for divergent behaviour coming forward?


Therefore, we would invite the Board, if it ultimately determines that it wants to, in this process ‑‑ let me give everyone notice now.  If the Board ultimately in this -- today's process, and subsequently determines there is merit in the partial settlement, that the Board may wish to be quite explicit about how it views it and how it ‑‑ the constraints it sees that are appropriate for it, and that it is avoiding duplication, not about expanding what is on the table.


If the Board finds that the matter isn't ‑‑ that is, that there is a practical way that this could occur, you then do have to deal with Enbridge's motion saying you don't have jurisdiction to entertain this proposal.  We think the Board, in fact, does have jurisdiction.  Certainly the Panel has jurisdiction with respect to Union, and this is a proposal with respect to Union that is not so far beyond what is clearly in the ‑‑ within the confines of this hearing that you've lost jurisdiction or you've stepped outside your jurisdiction with respect to Union.  


Enbridge complains that they're at a procedural disadvantage because the issues weren't defined so tightly that it was clear on them, and I hasten to agree with them, that obviously they didn't have any clear notice that this was coming up.  The first they heard of this was in the settlement conference.  


And so, yes, they didn't have ‑‑ if they felt they wanted to bring evidence on the merits of a joint process or not ‑ I can't imagine what that evidence might be, but leaving that aside ‑ then they're at a disadvantage.  But the remedy for that is to simply ask you now for an opportunity to file evidence, if they indeed wish to do so, before you reach a conclusion on the merits of item 3A.


There is a remedy for that problem, if indeed there is any evidence to be filed.  But I think there is no question the Board has jurisdiction with respect to Union.  The more interesting question that my friend raises, which is, Do you have any jurisdiction with respect to Enbridge?  In effect, do you have any jurisdiction to convene a joint process spilling out of this one?


In the past, we've seen many occasions where the Board - individuals, Panels of the Board - have said they view a given matter as more appropriate for a generic proceeding, and I think everybody understands what that means.  The Board, the whole Board, is then, in another room, going to consider whether or not that is appropriate.


So I think you could read down 3A here as simply saying to you, inviting you, in the end, if you agree with it, to tell Union that the Board favours commonality, the Board would like to see Union file its 2006, at least the broad‑brush elements, in time so it could be heard simultaneously with Enbridge, and the Board can leave it to the Board as a whole, the Chairman, to decide whether or not it should occur in a joint process and whether that ‑‑ generic process, and whether that can occur on a timely basis, or make it conditional on the Panel hearing the Enbridge case, to decide that it is fitting for Enbridge as well, and, in effect, that the Enbridge panel can coordinate its schedule to accommodate this.


So I think with a little creativity, there is no jurisdictional issue here.  As I say, I think what we're really faced with is the practical problem, and I think I heard my friend, in response to the questions from the Panel, say that that is their concern.  They don't want this to hold up the 2006 case, and we have every sympathy for them in that regard.


I think I will stop there, Mr. Chairman.  In short, we support the settlement proposal.  We believe the Board has a jurisdiction to entertain it.  The Board may wish to be careful about how it chooses to do so, in light of my friend's submissions, but I believe there are mechanisms available to you.


However, most importantly, I think it is appropriate for the Panel to be clear that what we're talking about here is not what is being requested in the letters to the Chairman by CCC, et al.  This is a much narrower matter before you.


If I am wrong, if subsequently today my friends inform you that their clients’ view of what they were signing here is something analogous to what the CCC proposes in its letter, then I would say the matter is also moot, because then there was clearly no meeting of the minds and there is no common proposal before you.  

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Poch.  

Mr. Warren.


MR. WARREN:  Mr. Chairman ‑‑ 


MR. BETTS:  Could I direct a question to Mr. Poch, if I may, before Mr. Warren begins?


Just with respect to your point about the practicality, I think you were alluding to the fact that Enbridge has suggested that, based on the timing they're seeing here, that it would interfere with their ability to deal with the 2006 DSM application, and that's the issue about practicality.


Now, let me ask you what your position is with respect to the issue of the multi‑year proposal by Enbridge.  How does that impact your position?


MR. POCH:  Well, both utilities have indicated their intent to come forward and are already starting to table documents which speak of multi-year plans.  It's not entirely clear to the GEC what that means.  We have been working under -- the theory we have been working under, multi-year plans for the last five or six years with these utilities already, as a practical matter, that means they set out their very high level broad-brush goals for multiple years, and then we had annual proceedings which looked at targets and budgets, and we were still able to reach agreement or go before the Board on individual aspects of the overall plan.  We didn't revisit the major questions, like, Should there be DSM?  How much emphasis is being placed between the different customer classes, what have you?  So it may be that there is nothing new there.

Alternatively, the utilities may be looking at a more dramatic change in what they consider to be dealt with annually, as opposed to infrequently.  And so I think it would be helpful to have that question discussed with both utilities at the table.  

     Now, I think, clearly, if I interpret you correctly, Mr. Betts, there is also this other question, which is, if the Board sees some merit in a joint process, however broad, but is concerned that it would hold up 2006, and then we have this alternative of a process that could begin to influence -- could begin to influence the utilities in 2007, how does that reconcile with a multi-year plan? 

     I don't see that there is a problem there.  I think we can have multi-year plans that -- I mean, just as we've had with multi-year PBR, inevitably things -- the world changes and we have to tweak things as we go.  And if the utilities go into a multi-year plan understanding that there is a potential for the need to revisit some of the underpinnings before the second year, I don't see that there is any great harm.  

     MR. BETTS:  Thanks.  

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Warren?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman I wonder if I could interrupt for a second, I -- 

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Shepherd?

     MR. SHEPHERD:  We are also, in part, supporting Enbridge's motion, although we're supporting the settlement agreement, as well.  And so I wonder if it’s more appropriate for me to go before my friends.

     MR. KAISER:  Please go ahead.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. SHEPHERD:

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, our position is that Enbridge has asked for four grounds for -- or four claims for relief. 

     The third one is an order of this Board that it is not -- it doesn't have to, and is not required to, make a decision on Issue 3A.  We support that.  We agree that this Board does not have to make a decision on 3A, but for different reasons from my friends.  Our belief is that what you have before you is a request -- a joint request from intervenors that the Board -- not this Panel, but the Board, do something that is within its power to do, that is, hold a joint proceeding. 

     I think it is common ground amongst all of us that this Panel does not have jurisdiction to order Enbridge to make an application for anything, or to order Enbridge to move its DSM plan from a different proceeding into a new one.  The Board has that power, but this Panel doesn't.  It’s not seized with an Enbridge application. 

     But I don't think the parties were asking you to do that.  I think the parties are asking you - just as we did with the Natural Gas Forum policy review last year - to say, Yes, we think it's a good idea that there be a joint proceeding to consider these issues.  

     And you will note that the decision on the DSM issues, the 3B issues, is -- the settlement is not conditional on the Board approving this joint proceeding.  We didn't say, Well, we're only agreeing to 2005 if we get this joint proceeding for 2006.  In fact, the condition that was placed on 3B was that Union support us on 3A, and they did.  So that’s fine.  And they have, in fact, agreed to ask for this joint proceeding, together with the rest of us.  

     As far as I'm concerned, that is the head of the matter.  You don't have a jurisdictional question.  You don't have to ask yourself whether you have jurisdiction to make an order, because you're not being asked to make an order for a joint proceeding.  Nobody has asked you to do that.  As a result of that, the request for relief in 3A -- sorry, in number 3, for Enbridge, is correct, but for different reasons. 

     You don't have to consider 1 and 2, because those are jurisdictional items, and they're not raised.

     And item 4, which is a request that you say you're not allowed to tell us that there is going to be a joint proceeding, is simply wrong.  If the Board, as a board, were to decide at lunchtime today we're going to have a joint proceeding, you're free to announce it this afternoon.  You may or may not be free to decide it.  That’s a jurisdictional question that doesn't arise, because nobody asked you to decide it. 

     Those are my submissions. 

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  

     MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Mr. Chair, I'm in a similar position, in the middle, for Pollution Probe.  So maybe, out of fairness to my friends, I should go now, as well. 

     MR. KAISER:  Please go ahead.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. KLIPPENSTEIN: 

     MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Pollution Probe also supported, and does support 3A, and the proceeding that is requested there.  But we also have some concerns about the position taken by Enbridge and, in fact, do oppose the motion.  

     Pollution Probe, very similarly to my friend, Mr. Poch, says Pollution Probe agreed to and supports the joint proceeding.  But one must look at what was agreed to.  And my friend pointed out that the first sentence of 3A says what was agreed to was a request for a proceeding into whether certain parts of the framework should be the same for both utilities.  

     And I think those are key words.  This is in the first sentence of 3A.  The last words say:  “should be the same for both utilities".  So this proposal in 3A is about sameness or consistency.  And that is important.  

     In fact, various people have raised the words "comprehensive" and "generic."  Well, those don't appear in 3A, and there is a reason for that, because it is a narrowly-focused hearing.  And that is important.

     The other --

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Klippenstein, what, in your submission, is the Board being asked to decide with respect to this joint hearing or common hearing, whatever it’s called?  Are we being asked whether we can hear it here?  Appoint a panel?  What?  What's the question before us today on this issue? 

     MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  I think there is guidance in the first half of the first sentence, which says:

“All parties, except EGD agree, that consideration should be given...” 

And so the Board is -- this Panel is being asked to give consideration to that.  That's the minimum level 

and -- 

     MR. KAISER:  Give consideration to what?  

     MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  To whether certain features of the framework should be the same and -- 

     MR. KAISER:  So what if we say that is a good idea?  Where does that get us?  I mean, what are we being asked to decide?  

     MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  The next guidance from the agreement, in my respectful submission, is in the next paragraph after the bullet points which says:

“All parties, except EGD, agree that the Board's determination of the DSM framework issues for Union and EGD starting January 1 ... should be made in a joint proceeding..."

So that is the request -- 

     MR. KAISER:  So are you saying -- is your client saying that we shouldn't consider this proposal by Union unless we have with it a proposal by the other company?  

     MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  No.  

     MR. KAISER:  All right.  So what are we being asked to decide?  In the view of your client, can we proceed, independently of this request that there should be a joint proceeding sometime in the future, and approve the Union plan today?  

     MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Technically, that is -- 

     MR. KAISER:  Well, not technically.  What is your position?

     MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Technically, and --

     MR. KAISER:  Is that what you're asking us to do? 

     MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  No --

     MR. KAISER:  Are you asking us to hold up approval of the Union plan pending resolution of this issue?  However we get there, that these matters be dealt with jointly?  Or not?  

     MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  No, absolutely not. 

     MR. KAISER:  Okay.  So I’ve got that straight.

     MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Yes.  And that is part of the wording of the agreement -- now we support the 3A agreement, but let me explain the answer I have just given, which is that we do not -- Pollution Probe does not support the holding up of the plan, turning on this joint proceeding.  Because the wording of the agreement says -- or requests that the Board issue appropriate procedural directions or orders to have the issues heard and decided in time to be reflected in 2006 rates. 

     So there is an important qualifier right in the agreement, which says that if -- that the concept that is asked for is, the hearing and deciding of the issues in time to reflect 2006 rates.  So I think that there is guidance to the Board in those words, in that, if it can't be done in time to reflect --- be reflected in 2006 rates, then that’s not what we've asked for, and that is not what we support. 

     And so that is either suggesting to the Board that this Panel -- that the Panel may have to approve the plan without the joint proceeding, or, another option is to approve the -- excuse me, another option is to fashion a proceeding which is so efficient that it can be done so -- fast enough so that it can be built into 2006 prospective rates.  And I think some parties have said a comprehensive generic proceeding will take months and -- you know, or half a year or a year.  And in our submission, that is definitely not what these words in this agreement are looking for.


And, parenthetically, Pollution Probe feels that we are all now in a position where we have some first class structures in place on these DSM matters and that a comprehensive naval-gazing exercise that will take hundreds of thousands of dollars of lawyers' and consultants' time is just not where we all should be right now, and particularly given the past Board decisions and comments of the Premier and the Minister of Energy about the status and direction of the province at this time, that the item on the agenda is moving fast, with action and accomplishment. 


And in Pollution Probe's submission, the structures that have been developed and honed over these years are working.  The numbers show it and are saving demand and are saving consumers' money right now.  


So a comprehensive generic hearing that looks to the fundamental questions of whether there should be incentives would be inappropriate and is not in the wording of this agreement, in my respectful submission.


And I do want to just again express the difference between this agreement and the apparent position of other parties, and that's expressed in the letter from CCC, which is attached as tab 17 in the Enbridge materials.  Now, that letter from CCC is dated April 7th, 2005, which is one day after the April 7th settlement agreement.


If you turn, Mr. Chairman and Members of the Panel, to page 2 of that April 8th letter and go down approximately mid‑page to the sentence beginning with the word "given", I will just read the two sentences there.  

"Given that both EGD and Union are seeking approval in 2005 for multi-year DSM plans, the Council believes that it is essential that the Board examine a number of common DSM framework issues prior to a consideration of the individual plans.  Once the framework issues have been resolved by the Board, the individual plans can be tested against that framework."


Now, when I look at the words "prior to", it seems to indicate that you ‑‑ that these issues, these framework issues, must be examined before consideration of the individual plans.  And with all due respect to my fellow parties here, I submit that is not what the wording of 3A suggests.  So that may ‑‑ that either is an erroneous interpretation of that agreement, or it is some other proposal.  


I would add, on the third page of the CCC letter, there is a list of issues proposed by the Council, and the first issue refers to "incentives including public policy considerations, the need for incentives and the structure of those incentives".  Similarly, item number 7 on the list refers to "DSMVA - need for and structure".  


Now, here we have examples of fundamental policy elements that, apparently, it is being suggested, need to be re-examined from the point of whether there is a need for them at all.  


Now, my respectful submission is that those issues are not found in 3A.  The wording doesn't support that.  The practical time framing in 3A doesn't support that.  So in my submission, it is open to the Panel to read it narrowly and properly, and it can be implemented, but there is, to be frank, another possible argument, which I submit should be rejected, that this is some kind of re-visiting of everything that's been done over the years and that, in my submission, needs to be improved and accelerated rather than re-examined from square one.


I have no submissions on the jurisdictional issue, so those are the submissions of Pollution Probe.


MR. BETTS:  Mr. Klippenstein, I would be interested in your views on one of the questions that surrounds this particular issue, and that is:  What is your view on the need for consistency and commonality between the two major gas utilities?

     MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  In my submission, that is an important question and it needs to be decided ‑‑ needs to be decided based on an item-by-item review, because there will be some instances or aspects of the DSM plan where it saves the Board's regulatory time, it saves hearing time, legal fees, to have exactly the same framework.  It saves the companies preparation time.  It saves procedural churn, but that will not be the case, in my submission, for all aspects.  And so it may be that having a joint hearing, which is not a comprehensive hearing, where the question is, What parts can beneficially be exactly the same, could be a short hearing and may come up with a list of things where most parties, including the companies, can say, We can live with that.  Let's have it the same.  


That way both Board Members and other parties don't need to, you know, change cars to travel that path.  So I don't think that we can say that huge swaths of the policies should be identical, and I don't suspect the companies would support that.


MR. BETTS:  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Warren, would it be convenient if we take the morning break at this time?


MR. WARREN:  Fine, sir.


MR. KAISER:  We can proceed with you when we come back.


MR. WARREN:  That's fine.


MR. KAISER:  Fifteen minutes.


‑‑‑ Recess taken at 11:00 a.m.       


--- On resuming at 11:22 a.m. 

     MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  

Mr. Warren.  

     MR. LYLE:  Mr. Chair, before Mr. Warren commences, I have two preliminary matters.


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

     MR. LYLE:  One is to recognize that Mr. Pinto, counsel for Canadian Manufacturers and Exporters, is now in attendance. 

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

     Mr. Pinto. 

     MR. LYLE:  Also, to refer you to a document from Enbridge's 2006 rates case, which Mr. O’Leary has given to me and distributed.  We will give that Exhibit G1.4. 

EXHIBIT NO. G1.4:  ONE PAGE FROM ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION’S 2006 RATES CASE, FILED BY EGD; SPECIFICALLY, EXHIBIT A7, TAB 4, SCHEDULE 1, PAGE 2 OF 15, DSM MATERIALS FROM THAT CASE

     MR. LYLE:  Mr. O'Leary, I think you were going to speak to this document. 

     MR. O'LEARY:  Not at this particular moment, but, sir, we thought that by producing this document and referring to it in my reply, it may respond, in part, to the one or several questions by Mr. Betts to other parties.  

     MR. BETTS:  Could you describe that document, just so I know what it is? 

     MR. O'LEARY:  Certainly.  It's a page taken out of the 2006 rates application filed by Enbridge and you will see it specifically is Exhibit A7, tab 4, schedule 1, page 2 of 15, which is the DSM materials. 

     MR. BETTS:  Thank you. 

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Warren? 


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. WARREN: 

     MR. WARREN:  Mr. Kaiser, and Members of the Panel, let me go to what I regard as the fulcrum question which you framed, Mr. Kaiser, and that is:  What are the parties asking you to -- what are the parties asking the Board to approve with respect to issue 3A?  And in my respectful submission, the short answer is, nothing.  

     The agreement that comes out of the ADR process is that the parties who were signatories to it, that is everyone except Enbridge Gas Distribution, feel that there is merit in considering in a joint proceeding, certain common issues.  There is no agreement, obviously, on what the laundry list of common issues is. 

     But the parties are saying to the Board -- to the Board, writ large, not to this Panel but to the Board, writ large, that they think there is merit in that.  The agreement may have been somewhat, slightly infelicitous, in not distinguishing between this Panel and the Board, writ large, but it was certainly the intention of my client, as a signatory to this, that what would emerge from this would be a discrete request to the Board of whole, to convene some kind of joint process to consider common issues, what those issues are and how they might be resolved.  

     It was consistent with that understanding on the part of my client, that it wrote the letter that has been referred to, which is the letter of April 8th, which is, in effect, a request that the Board convene this process.  Now, what my client didn't do, and I suppose ought to have done, is ask the Board for direction on how that might take place.  But that’s a matter for another day.  

     In our respectful submission, the Board does not have to do anything at all about issue 3A.  Some parties might say it would be nice if the Board were to agree that it's a good thing that certain issues be dealt with in common, but I don't think the Board even needs to go that far.  

     My client feels very strongly, Mr. Chairman, very strongly indeed, that there are common issues, that there will be enormous savings in time and resources and energy, if there is a process by which the common issues can be identified, common rules can be set.  That is the position we've taken repeatedly over many years. 

     We think, for example, with respect to this year, that, if there isn't this joint process, what will inevitably bring -- happen is that Enbridge will proceed with its hearings.  All of the issues will be considered in the context of Enbridge.  They will then be considered separately, in the context of Union's application, with the net result that there will be duplication and the risk that decisions made with respect to Enbridge may prejudice the position that Union wants to take.  All of that, in our respective submission, can be avoided if there is a joint proceeding.  

     But you don't have to be persuaded of that today.  You don't have to agree with me or disagree with me - indeed, you might disagree with me - you're not being asked to make any order convening that process, setting the terms of that process.  Nothing.  That is to be left, in our respectful submission, to another Panel. 

     You are allowed -- the settlement agreement gives you the liberty -- indeed, this is what you're invited to do, is to approve Union's DSM plan for 2005, and to do what you wish with this agreement on common issues.  

     We disagree with the rhetoric that my friend, Mr. O'Leary, has used with respect to convening some “massive”, “generic reconsideration” of the “Bible”.  I thought, until this morning, that Mr. Poch was a Darwinian; it turns out he's not.  But you don't have to deal with those issues today.  You don't have to deal with the rhetorical flourishes about whether or not what is being conceived of is some massive, generic hearing.  In our view, it is clearly not.  All you're being asked to do is to approve the ADR agreement, Mr. Chairman. 

     It’s our view, as I’ve said, that this kind of joint consideration of the common issues is very important as a matter of public policy, as a matter of regulatory process, and, more importantly, or most importantly, as a matter of regulatory efficiency. 

     So, Mr. Chairman, on the issue that you've asked, What's the Board being asked to approve, the short answer, in my respectful submission, is nothing.

     Those are my submissions, sir.  

     MR. KAISER:  I take it you agree with the previous three speakers, that this matter of a common hearing is not a condition with respect to the approval of the DSM plan of Union.      


MR. WARREN:  Yes, I thought I just said that.  If I didn't make it clear, that is our position, sir.  

     MR. KAISER:  Is there anyone that takes the view that the issue about the common hearing or generic hearing is, in any sense, a condition of the approval of Union’s DSM plan? 

     MR. PENNY:  Certainly, not Union.  The only --

     MR. KAISER:  I figured that.  

     MR. PENNY:  -- the only condition was that we agreed to make the request, and we have and will make the request.  But, again, I agree with Mr. Warren, it was a request to the Board, at large, not to this Panel.  

     MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Warren, can I -- if this Panel is not required to make an order, is your expectation that this Panel will make a commentary?  

     MR. WARREN:  I don't have any expectations at all, Mr. Vlahos and -- about anything, sir.  I've reached the stage in life where disappointment is the order of the day, so I try to dull that, sir.  I don't think, Mr. Vlahos, that this Panel needs to say anything about this, other than that it approves the settlement agreement in which this is an element.  There are parties that have come together to say this is a good idea. 

     If the party -- if the Board wished to go further than that and say that, we think that there would be merit in some efficiencies achieved by this, I think that's fine.

     But my point is, I don't think you need to say that, sir, and I have no expectations that you’ll do that.  

     MR. VLAHOS:  Is there a need to capture, I guess, what has been said today in some document where someone would pick up the settlement proposal five years down the road, and say, Well, look, the parties were free to certainly negotiate this and here it is.  Where do we record this Panel's commentary on this?

     MR. WARREN:  I don't think you need to, Mr. Vlahos.  And the reason for that is that there is now, in effect, an application to the Board, at large, to convene this -- to convene a joint process.  That's what our letter -- my client's letter of the 8th did.  And at that point, parties -- clearly, Mr. Poch is going to come in and say, I don't accede to counsel's request; I meant something different by this.  

     Nobody is bound, in my respectful submission, to any text, if you wish - to use my friend Mr. Poch's Biblical connotation - to some text about exactly what’s contemplated by the joint proceeding.  

     What will happen, in my view, is that the Board, writ large, will be asked to convene this.  There will be ample opportunity for people to say, These are the issues you should consider and so on and so forth.  So it is not necessary for the Board to say:  This is exactly what the text means.  As a matter of fact, there may be some danger in that, sir, to allow -- danger in not confining people, and allowing them to say what they wish when the matter comes before the Board, at large. 

     MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, sir.  And just -- you mentioned application, you mean by that, your letter? 

     MR. WARREN:  My letter, sir, that's what I'm referring to. 

     MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  Thank you.  

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Aiken, did you have any submissions? 

     MR. AIKEN:  No, sir, I do not. 

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Ryder?  

     MR. RYDER:  No, sir.    

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Thompson? 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. THOMPSON: 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Let me begin by indicating that it is IGUA's position on the motion that the relief that EGD seeks with respect to topic 3A should be denied.  And, like Mr. Warren, I’ll lead off by indicating what we think you're being asked to do with respect to the agreement on topic 3A.  

     And my submissions to you are based on the words of the agreement.  The first thing that we submit you are being asked to do is to recognize that the settlement of the 2005 DSM issues, reflected in the second part of Issue 3, DSM issues, is as stated in the last paragraph of the text of the agreement before the words, "EGD does not support the position proposed above":

"The agreement of the parties with respect to the parameters of Union's DSM plan for 2005 is interim for 2005 only and is entirely without prejudice to their positions on any of the DSM framework issues beyond January 1, 2006."


The settlement agreement, I believe, is found in tab 7 of Mr. O'Leary's book, and the passage that I've just referred to is on page 6, about four paragraphs from the bottom.  


So I suggest that you're being asked to recognize that this interim without-prejudice settlement of the 2005 DSM parameters avoided a consideration of DSM framework issues in this particular case, and the avoidance of the consideration of those DSM framework issues in this particular case was based on the support of everyone, except EGD, of a process for dealing with those DSM framework issues in the context of the multi‑year plans already filed by Enbridge and to be filed by Union for the period commencing January 1, 2006.  


And what the agreement spells out is, in my respectful submission, simply notice to the Board as a whole of the parameters of the joint proceeding process, which everybody but EGD supports.  


And what the Board is being asked to do, in my respectful submission - and it's the Board as a whole with respect to this notice - is to respond to it in some fashion.  This Panel need not respond to it.  It's not a condition to the provisions of the ADR agreement.  This Panel, I submit, is free to comment on it, if it wishes.  It doesn't have to.  


But what IGUA envisages is that the Board would respond in a manner similar to the way in which it responded to a process in which EGD proposed in a prior case, and others subscribed to it, which was where the rental program deferred taxes issue would be severed and dealt with in a separate proceeding, with a new docket number and directions issued and all of that kind of thing.  


So you have the notice of what everybody agrees to, except EGD, and you're free to respond to it -- the Board as a whole is free to respond to it as it sees fit.  One of the objectives of the agreement, as reflected in the wording, is that the proceeding ‑‑ if the Board responds favourably to the suggestions made by the agreeing parties with respect to this process, it is evident that an objective of this process is to avoid the consideration of DSM framework issues in both the EGD multi‑year plan case and in Union's multi‑year plan case so that they can be ‑‑ the issues can be decided in time to be reflected in 2006 rates.  And you will find that language in the ‑‑ I think it is the first full paragraph on page 6 of the agreement.  Sorry, it is the second full paragraph:

"All parties except EGD ask the Board to establish a proceeding to deal with common DSM issues for Union and EGD at the same time and to issue appropriate procedural directions or orders to have the issues heard and decided in time to be reflected in 2006 rates."  


So the objective was not to delay these multi‑year plans, but to establish an efficient process, and timely, to deal with them so that both plans can be hopefully up and running at the beginning of January 1, 2006.  And it's notice of this request that the Board as a whole should take from the agreement, in my respectful submission.  


And it's in this context that what we have in this agreement, in my respectful submission, is appropriate subject matter for a settlement agreement pertaining to the Union's 2005 DSM proposals.  


The DSM issues in the 2005 rate case do raise issues with respect to ‑- and here I am reading the list of topics that the parties agreed to the DSM framework issues included, and you will find those listed in the seven bullet points that appear on pages 5 and 6 of the agreement:  Rules or principles applicable to volumetric savings; target setting and budget setting; structures of incentives; calculation of avoided costs and incentive payouts; attribution issues; LRAM structure; DSMVA structure; and audit protocol.  


The scope of the DSM framework issues in the agreement is not as narrow as some of my friends will now urge you to conclude.  And those are the words that were selected with some care in the document.  


EGD asks you to refrain from responding to this notice, for the Board as a whole to respond to this notice, by suggesting that, first of all, the DSM framework topic was not an issue in Union's proceedings.  We have already discussed this to some degree already.  


But, as I mentioned earlier, there was no issues list in this particular case, and the settlement agreement reflects the topics that all participants in the ADR identified, and accepted were topics that were raised in the application.  And EGD was a party to the acceptance of the DSM framework topic being raised in the Union 2005 DSM proposals, as well as beyond that.


So I submit the suggestion that the matter should be ignored, because this was not an issue, is a suggestion that lacks merit.  


EGD goes on and asks you to grant the relief that it seeks on the grounds that the proposal is a comprehensive generic DSM proceeding.  And in their covering letter with their motion, they added the phrase:

"...which would examine all aspects of the DSM programs of the company and Union and would jeopardize the company's goal of having necessary approvals in place on January 1, 2006".  


In my client's submission, that is a mischaracterization of the nature of the proposal.  It is a joint proceeding only involving Union and Enbridge, and it's confined in scope to what had been labelled the DSM framework issues.  And you can, in my submission, discern that from, again, the language of the agreement.  

And it's in the first full paragraph on page 6 of tab 7 in Enbridge's material.  You will see:  

“All parties except EGD agree that the Board's determination of the DSM framework issues for Union and EGD, starting January 1, 2006, should be made in a joint proceeding in which EGD’s and Union's proposals on the DSM framework issues are heard at the same time.”  

The context in which this, if you will, joinder of 

proceedings proposal is made to avoid duplication or multiplicity of proceedings is addressed in the second sentence of that paragraph:   

“EGD's three-year DSM plan for the period starting January 1, 2006 is filed as parts of its application for 2006 test year rates.  Union's DSM plan starting January 1, 2006 is pending, and Union intends to file it early enough so that a decision can be rendered prior to the end of 2005.”  

So there is nothing in this agreement that supports 

Enbridge's contention that it is -- it will, it endeavours to postpone the implementation of the DSM framework issues beyond January 1, 2006.  It reads exactly to the contrary.  It's designed to expedite the process and avoid multiplicity of proceedings.  

“As to the nature of the process that the parties, except EGD, agreed upon and asked the Board to consider” -- and this is where the phrase “the Board as a whole” should probably have been inserted in the agreement, that's in the next paragraph, “all parties, except EGD, asked the Board as a whole to establish a proceeding to deal with common DSM framework issues for Union and EGD at the same time, and to issue appropriate procedural directions or orders to have the issues heard and decided in time to be reflected in 2006 rates.  The parties suggest that the procedural directions include the following:” 

And the first is the determination of the most appropriate means for having EGD's evidence on these issues before the Board in the proposed proceeding.  That might be by simply transferring what they have filed in whole into the separate proceeding.  It might be by having EGD submit its own evidence on DSM framework issues.  But we're trying to indicate how we envisaged this process could be structured to achieve the goal of having these framework issues decided promptly.  

The second was a requirement that Union file its evidence with respect to DSM framework issues.  The idea there included the fact that the Board might want Union to accelerate the presentation of its three-year -- the filing of evidence pertaining to its three-year plan.  But we're not trying to direct the Board to do anything.  These are suggestions.  And then we had the provisions with respect to interrogatories and a settlement conference.  

And these are all suggestions that we're hoping the Board will, as a whole, will respond to in the context of what's in this agreement and the context of what other -- whatever further information the Board, as a whole, considers that it requires.  

So what was contemplated was not a comprehensive DSM generic proceedings on all issues.  It was a joint proceeding, Union and EGD only, confined to common framework issues.  

Now, in terms of the purpose of the proposals, in my 

submission, they were to facilitate the determination of framework issues for both Union and EGD in a timely and cost-effective manner; not intended to jeopardize the timely determination of these issues for either EGD or Union, as EGD contends.  

My submission is that this type of process agreement which the parties have put forward for the Board's consideration, in that it avoids a contest on these issues at this time and avoids the multiplicity of proceedings, is a matter that falls within the ambit of ADR agreements as evidenced by the agreement I already mentioned.  And it's not dissimilar really to cases where issues are deferred on the grounds that further evidence will be filed in a subsequent proceeding to address the contests that have arisen pertaining to issues.  

My submission is that the process agreement that the Board, as a whole, is being asked to consider is consistent with the objectives of its –- of the rules of civil procedure in governing court actions and the Board's own rules.  And in that context, I have in mind Rules 2.01 and 2.02, where the rules state -- this is under the topic "Interpretation of Rules": 

“These rules shall be liberally construed in the public interest to secure the most just, expeditious and efficient determination on the merits of every proceeding before the Board.” 

And 2.02:  

“Where procedures are not provided for in these rules, the Board may do whatever is necessary and permitted by law to enable it to effectively and completely adjudicate on the matter before it.”

Severance of issues, joiner of issues to avoid the multiplicity of proceedings is a principle that drives the courts, as the Chairman well knows, and it should, in my submission, be a principle that this Board considers and hopefully applies.  

So IGUA’s expectation and hope is that the Board, as a whole, would respond to the process proposal reflected in the agreement by evaluating its merits, by considering whatever further information it feels is appropriate and by issuing appropriate directions so that the objectives can hopefully achieved, i.e., having these framework issues resolved in a timely manner and before these three-year -- multi-year plans are being considered.  

If the directions are issued promptly - we're now in late April - we suggest that these DSM framework issues in a joint proceeding applicable to EGD and Union could be processed and decided by year-end 2005.  On the other hand, if you grant the relief EGD proposes, which is basically ignore the request, then it seems to me you run the risk that there will be objections in EGD's three-year plan proposal on implementing it before these framework issues have been resolved, or these framework issues will be raised in that case, as well as in Union's case, which is 

pending.  

So for all of these reasons, we urge you to deny the relief that EGD requests.  IGUA will be seeking its costs with respect to this matter.  As you know, IGUA is an eligible -- an intervenor eligible for cost awards.  And the only item that I wanted to flag here at this point is, there may be an issue as to whether EGD should pay these costs as opposed to Union since EGD has raised this matter in an attack on the ADR agreement, the partial agreement, which, in our view, is without merit.  

So I just flag that as a possibility.  You may require them to pay the costs of eligible intervenors in connection with this motion or, alternatively, reimburse Union for the costs that it may be ordered to pay with respect to this particular motion.

Those are my submissions, unless there are any questions.  


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson.  


MR. BETTS:  I have a couple of questions if I could, Mr. Thompson.  I just want to make certain I understand your view.  I think I do.


The motion refers to - and it's in quotation marks - "a comprehensive generic DSM proceeding".  In your mind, is that a mischaracterization of what is being requested in 3A? 


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  


MR. BETTS:  Thank you.  The next question is with respect to the notice of motion, there were five requests, I think, for Board action.  If you direct your attention to number 3, you have asked the Board to deny the entire motion. 


What is your position with respect to number 3?  


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, my submission is you don't need to make an order or decision with respect to ‑‑ of the type that EGD has requested.  That's, in my submission, based on a jurisdictional argument.  Everyone agrees that this description of the process is not a condition to the approval of the agreement, and so that request for belief need not be granted, because it is unnecessary.  


MR. BETTS:  Thank you.  


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Thompson, in light of your comments, and comments by others, that the limitations to the full Board is not a request for an order by this Panel and it is not a condition of accepting several proposals, would that explain why this issue is framed under -- it's partial settlement as opposed to a contested issue?


MR. THOMPSON:  No.  It is partial, because EGD didn't buy into it.


MR. VLAHOS:  I understand that, but in circumstances where one party may not be signing on, it may be a contested issue where the Panel will decide whether that issue is on the table or isn't on the table.  So I just wondered whether that would explain why it is under the characterization of partial.  If you don't know, that's fine.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I can give you my understanding.  The word "partial" ‑‑ I think the definitions appear on the first page, item 2, an issue for which there is no settlement ‑- sorry, item 3, an issue for which there is a partial settlement because Union and the other parties agree to the settlement of the item, but not the full item, or for which the majority of parties are in agreement and one or more parties do not agree with the settlement.  


So, it is partial, as I understand it, because EGD did not subscribe to either the process suggestion that ‑‑ well, did not subscribe to the process as a suggestion, notice contained in the document, and I'm assuming they didn't subscribe to the last paragraph that I read at the outset:  

"The agreement of the parties with respect to the parameters of Union's DSM plan for 2005 is interim for 2005, only, and is entirely without prejudice to their positions on any of the DSM framework issues beyond January 1, 2006." 


MR. VLAHOS:  Yes.  The reason I'm asking that question, because paragraph 3 contemplates issues that are issues for the proceeding.  This is slightly different.  It's an invitation to the Board.  It's not a request for this Panel to make an order.  But thanks for those comments, Mr. Thompson.  


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Janigan, do you have any submissions? 


MR. JANIGAN:  Mr. DeVellis will be giving submissions on behalf of VECC.  


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. DeVELLIS:

MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  I have only brief submissions.  I won't repeat the comments of Mr. Warren and Mr. Thompson, except to say that we also agree that this Panel does not have jurisdiction to order a hearing in respect of Enbridge, and we also agree that the settlement with Union in respect of the 2005 DSM is not, in any way, conditional on a hearing being convened in respect of Issue 3A.


What we are proposing in Issue 3A is that a hearing be convened to establish a common DSM framework, and, as Ms. Huesser stated in her letter of April 8th, which I believe is now Exhibit G1.1, she points to previous Board decisions in support of that request.  


We agree with those sentiments and, as Mr. Janigan pointed out in his letter of April 22nd, which is Exhibit G1.2, that the approach being advocated is also in accordance with the findings of the Natural Gas Forum.  


Specifically, in the Natural Gas Forum, the Board comments favourably on the development of overall policy guidelines, noting the ability of such guidelines to bring about greater predictability in decision-making.  And we believe the approach being advocated by the parties meets these objectives.  


We also concur with the position on some of the other intervenors in respect of the alleged prejudice to Enbridge, if a hearing were to be convened.  That is to say, we do not think there would be any prejudice to Enbridge.  


If a hearing is convened, they would have ample opportunity to present evidence and submissions, and they have also had ample opportunity today to state their case as to why a hearing should not be convened; rather, the Board should focus on the reasons underlying the request for a joint hearing, a generic hearing, and not get sidetracked by the forum in which it has been presented.


Essentially, what EGD is arguing is an issue of procedural fairness in connection with a solution adopted by the parties in the context of an alternative dispute resolution.  We would submit that this kind of creative solution is precisely the purpose for having an ADR session in the first place, and this, sort of, creative approach should be encouraged by the Board, and parties should not be constrained in ADR sessions by procedural considerations.  


Those are our submissions, Mr. Chairman.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, sir.  

Mr. Adams. 


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. ADAMS:

MR. ADAMS:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  I'm appearing to support ‑‑ appearing here today on behalf of Energy Probe to support the submissions of CCC, IGUA and VECC in support of the ADR agreement as it is presented to you, and also to record on the record our support for the approach presented in the CCC's letter of April 8th. 


I have very brief submissions, one in response to one of the comments from Mr. O'Leary and two procedural notes that I want to bring to your attention.


In his list of arguments in support for his motion, Mr. O'Leary suggested that the parties endorsing the ADR agreement, that some of us were ‑‑ and he didn't name any of the parties, but some of us were keen to throw out a decade or more of learning about the experience with DSM.  And, specifically, on behalf of Energy Probe, I want to make it very clear that that is definitely not our suggestion.  


We believe that there is a great deal to be learned from the experience that's been had, and in the event that the Board as a whole sees its way fit to proceed with some kind of review on the guidelines of those outlined in the ADR agreement, Energy Probe would seek to pursue some of that learning and present it to the Board's attention.  


Two procedural concerns that arise from the comments and the approach that's been pursued by EGD.  I think it is important to recognize that EGD is not more than just another intervenor in this proceeding.  There is -- there are rules that are well-established, and traditions that are well-established, with respect to parties that find themselves as outliers with respect to particular items on ADR agreements.  The normal approach is for parties to bring evidence, present argument.  They bear the burden of being outliers.  Energy Probe is familiar with that position; we've been in that position ourselves.

     It appears to us that EGD is asking for some kind of special consideration here, presenting a motion, but yet a motion that is not supported by any evidence.  They have not established any evidence that there is any harm or prejudice.  And so the approach that's pursued here by EGD seems to us to be an extraordinary one.  

     A final comment with regard to procedure is that there have been repeated comments, from Mr. O'Leary particularly, but also other parties - I'm concerned particularly by some comments of Mr. Poch - that make -- well, they suggest some piercing of the confidentiality of the negotiations, and delving into the positions of the parties.  And Mr. Poch made comments on certain melding of minds, and Mr. O'Leary was commenting at some length on the positions that his client took within the ADR process.  And I want to record on the record that we object to those submissions in a public forum, such as this.

     Those are my submissions.   

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Adams.

     Mr. Scully, do you have any submissions?


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. SCULLY:  

     MR. SCULLY:  Mr. Chairman, as I look at the five items of relief sought by Enbridge in this motion, I guess I don't have any objection to them, unless the last one might morph into a request that 3A be expunged from the agreement.  And I don't hear that suggested.  We're quite happy if 3A just sits there in the agreement.  We would be pleased if this Panel chose to make a comment about it, be it ever so brief, at least.  I think something should be said, just for the continuity of the record, for people attempting to follow these procedures.  

     We see the DSM process, and the details, as something of a Byzantine mystery.  And we signed on to this agreement -- 3A of this agreement because we saw it as a positive step towards at least reducing it to a single mystery between the two major utilities. 

     So we're very much in favour of something being done.  As I understand where matters stand right now, we have the equivalent of a formal request to the Board Panel, the Board as a whole, to consider this matter.  We're somewhat indifferent about whether it’s a narrow examination -- if it turns out, in the end, to be a narrow examination.  That's what we thought was being outlined in 3A of the settlement agreement.  But having missed what Mr. Poch, I think, called the 169 agreement, we’d be happy to receive a thorough education, if that's the direction that the Board takes, eventually.  

     We are sympathetic however to there being no retroactive rate-making taking place, no matter what comes down.  So our recommendation is, I guess, not to this Panel, necessarily, but to the Board, as a whole, if it does consider this matter, that that consideration remain paramount in their minds.

     Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Scully. 

     Mr. Pinto, did you have any comments?  

     MR. PINTO:  Mr. Chairman, my submissions will be brief.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. PINTO: 

     MR. PINTO:  My submission is that your choice here is to either adopt, reject or, based on the submissions before you, vary the agreement that's been put before you.  And you should focus on the plain language of the agreement before you. 

     It's clear that all the parties that went through an ADR process and came up with wording which clearly reflected, perhaps, some compromises along the way reflected the agreement of the parties, but for EGD. 

     And what CME wants you to note from that is that the essential consideration for resolution of 2005 issues was a framework DSM agreement, of one sort or another.  The parties did not believe we could, or it would be appropriate, to direct exactly how that would take place.  But, clearly, there was a listing of sub-issues that needed to be in the process.  The scope of that is something that we believe ought to be left to another day, not this Panel.

     And so I just return to my overall submission, which is that to accept EGD's motion would effectively have the tail wagging the dog, when this Board should recognize that all the parties, but for EGD, have attempted in an efficient manner to resolve their differences, and come before you and ask you to adopt this agreement.

     Thank you.  Those are my submissions.  

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

     Are there any other parties who wish to comment?  

     Mr. Penny?

     MR. PENNY:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. PENNY: 

     MR. PENNY:  The bottom line, from Union's perspective here, is that the relief should be denied.  And the reason for this position is simply that, in our submission, Enbridge is in the wrong forum, and that this Panel is not being asked to do anything with respect to the request in 3A, and need not do anything.  

     In taking this position, I do want to make it clear, however, that Union does not wish to take away from the substantive concerns that Enbridge has about its DSM plan, and its timing, and it's 2006 rate case, or its right to raise these concerns in the proper forum. 

     So our position is on process, not on substance, and we take the view that Enbridge has every right to raise its concerns with the Board about whether there should be this joint proceeding, and whether they should be compelled to participate in it.  Our position is simply that this is not the forum in which to do that, and it's for that reason, and that reason alone, that we ask that the motion be denied.  

     It's important, I think, to -- and so I agree with the substance of what Mr. Warren and Mr. Thompson have said, although, for perhaps slightly different reasons or with, perhaps, slightly different emphasis.  

     Let's remember what the agreement itself provides.  In the first three paragraphs of 3A there’s really three steps.

     The first step was that -- it says all parties, except EGD, agree that consideration should be given to whether certain features of the DSM framework should be the same for both utilities.  So we're talking about consideration being given to something.  

     Step number 2 is that all parties except EGD -- in the next -- so then what follows is a discussion of what that might be.  So it says all parties agree that the Board's determination - and I agree with Mr. Thompson, that was contemplated to be and, perhaps, should have read “the Board, at large, determine”, not this Panel - determination of the DSM framework issues should be made in a joint proceeding.  So that's part of the consideration.

     And then the most important part is in the next paragraph, and the third step is, having said that consideration should be given, and to what, it says how that’s to be implemented.  And it says all parties, except EGD, ask the Board - and, again, perhaps it should have said "at large" - to establish a proceeding.  

     So the request here is a request to the Board, at large, to establish a proceeding.  And I agree with the submissions you've heard previously that this Board is not -- this Panel, I should say, of the Board, is not - it was not contemplated that you would be instituting this proceeding, or setting the wheels in motion for that proceeding, or establishing any of the procedural steps that are contemplated in this discussion or, indeed, that anything at all was required from this Panel.

     And the real -- the key reason for that, in my submission, at the end of the day, is that there are no rate consequences -- it would be -- flowing from this aspect of the agreement.  It might be different if there were some direct rate consequence flowing, and then -- you can't charge rates in this province without an order of the Board, and we would need something from this Panel for the Board in order to do that.  But there are no rate consequences flowing from paragraph 3A.  3A simply records that certain parties agreed with Union ‑ not Enbridge of course ‑ to ask the Board, at large, to institute this process, or, put another way, I would say this was one element ‑‑ that is, Union's agreement to jointly make this request to the Board at large, one element that it took to get a settlement of Union's 2005 DSM plan.  And as I've said, that aspect requires no approval from or endorsement from this Panel.  


And I would make the point that your acceptance of this settlement agreement would not, in my submission, affect that issue, at all, in the sense that it doesn't make it more or less likely that the Board at large will or will not accede to that request.  And it will not ‑ and in my submission should not - deprive Enbridge of a forum in which to make its submission to the Board at large as to why, perhaps, it's not a good idea to do this or why Enbridge shouldn't be compelled to participate.  


But that is for a different forum and addresses the issue of the merits.  


Now, the suggestion, I suppose, might be made that if what I have just said, and what Mr. Warren and Mr. Thompson have submitted about your role, is true, that perhaps paragraph 3A doesn't belong in the settlement agreement, but that, in my submission, would be an entirely unmeritorious argument, with the greatest of respect.  


We've gone back, for example, and looked through a number of Union's prior settlement agreements, and I won't take you through them, but we found many, many instances where parties agreed, as between themselves, that Union or Union and other parties would do something, undertaking a study, asking the Board for something, meeting with other parties to develop further proposals or guidelines which might be brought back before some other panel of the Board at some point in the future.  


And, indeed, this agreement has exactly such a provision in the DSM section.  It is section 8 that deals with future commitments:

"Union will include specific proposals for performance initiatives for progress toward market transformation, in addition to incentives for TRC benefits, in its pending 2006-2008 DSM plan."  


Well, we're not asking this Board to do anything about this.  This is simply Union undertaking to the parties that we will do this.  And ‑‑ sorry, that was under section 3B, section 8.  And there might be consequences at some future proceeding if Union fails to uphold its agreement, but today, in terms of this agreement, this Panel need do nothing about that.  


And these prior settlement agreements are full of those kinds of provisions, because, simply, these are sometimes the things that it takes in order to get final agreement, because, as the Board knows, there is often more to parties' interests and concerns than immediate rate or monetary consequences.  But in all of these instances, the Panel approving the settlement agreement is not being asked to do anything.  


So, in my submission, there is nothing unusual about this type of provision being in an agreement.  It doesn't throw up some problem.  It is simply, as I've said, sometimes what it takes in order for people to come to an agreement and which the Board has, in the past, accepted freely and willingly as an incident of getting to a settlement.  


As I say, if there were any rate consequences to it, then the story would be different, but, in this case, there aren't.  


So I say really, at the end of the day, that the Enbridge motion is attacking really a straw man.  There is no issue of jurisdiction here.  No one is going to, and there is no intent to get a leg up on Enbridge in terms of their substantive objections to the structural alignment idea or the process.  


They have the right, every right, to submit their arguments to the Board and, if those submissions have merit, then I'm sure the Board will give them due consideration.  It may be at the ends of the day that the Board says, We don't think it is a good idea.  But that is not for you to decide.  


I guess I would close by simply making ‑‑ there was one factual point I wanted to respond to in ‑‑ which has come up a couple of times, but it originates in Mr. O'Leary's submission, that the result of this proposal would be inevitable delay, and he referenced Union's evidence that said that Union's proposal is to file its DSM plan by September of 2005 so that it could have whatever decision it needs from the Board in order to implement that plan on January 1, 2005.  


But that isn't ‑‑ I think Mr. O'Leary referred to it as that's when the trigger gets pulled.  That is not when the trigger gets pulled.  Indeed, the intention behind this structural idea of looking at the structural elements of DSM is that they would happen well in advance.  We still want to stick with that date for filing our plan.  So that means, if we're going to deal with fundamental issues, we need to deal with them earlier.


So the concept was that we would deal with these structural issues at the earliest possible time in order for ‑‑ to employ those, if there is consensus or a decision of the Board, to employ those in the formulation of our 2006 to 2008 DSM plan and have it hit the ground running in the fall, in time to implement rates, so that -- I think the point simply being that that is not when the process starts.  That's when it ends, from our perspective.  Thank you.  


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Penny.  Mr. Penny, you've indicated that you went along with this request, if I paraphrase, as the price of getting agreement with the rest of the settlement agreement.  There seems to be a difference of view between Mr. O'Leary and Mr. Thompson. 


Mr. O'Leary is concerned ‑ leaving aside the jurisdiction of this Panel, I think we're over that issue ‑ that severing, to use Mr. Thompson's word, of creating a generic proceeding may derail his rate case; whereas Mr. Thompson, if I understand him, says, No, we could sever this.  It might actually be more efficient.  We won't have to be in two places.  We can it done more efficiently, perhaps in tandem with the rate case.  


What is your position?  Is this going to hurt your rate case or not?  


MR. PENNY:  Well, in ‑‑ we're in a different ‑‑ I don't want to speak for ‑‑ this probably bites more as a more ‑‑ more of a difficulty from Enbridge than Union, so I won't speak for Enbridge on this, just for Union.  


We're in a different position from Enbridge, because we don't ‑‑ we don't have that plan developed yet.  We're behind, in terms of a timetable.  We're behind where Enbridge is today.  We want to have our 2006 DSM plan finished by the fall so that we can bring it forward and get a decision on it before January 1, 2006.  


We need to go through the exercise of developing that plan, in any event.  So this process that is contemplated is helpful to us, in the sense that we need to come to grips with those structural issues, anyway, and whether we do it trying to align them with Enbridge or whether we do it with our own, or with our own consultants or whatever, it still needs to be done.  


So I would agree with Mr. ‑‑ with what Mr. Thompson said, to the extent that there is -- provided it is done on a timely basis, there is some efficiency for us in doing it now as opposed to doing it later, because we have to do it, anyway.  


So I think that is the way I would respond to your question, but it would certainly be our hope that if the Board ‑‑ if the Board at large to accede to this request, that it would be a -- consideration would be given to the timing of that, such that Enbridge is concerned about delay with their case that's already up and running and our concern with our desire to have our DSM plan done by September, which requires that structural issues be resolved in advance of that, that consideration would be given to that and an effort made to accommodate those, because I think it is in everyone's interest to do that.


And I hear the intervenors saying that they ‑‑ that that is what they would like to see, as well.  


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  


MR. BETTS:  I have one question.  I probably could have asked this to any of those parties that have made submissions so far, but I will ask you, Mr. Penny.  You're the lucky one here.


We've had a lot of comment, and I think I would say a general consensus, that the Board need not comment on this item.  

Let me take that one step further.  The 3A actually describes that the Board is being asked to establish a proceeding to deal with common DSM framework issues for Union and EGD at the same time.  


Is there any evidence before this Panel that would support that request?  


MR. PENNY:  No.  The answer to that is, no, there isn't.  


MR. BETTS:  Okay, thank you.  


MR. PENNY:  And that fits with this notion that this Panel isn't being asked to do anything with that issue.  If the Board at large ‑‑ I mean, it is an interesting point.  We were talking about this earlier today.  

     If the Board, at large, were to receive the request to institute this, the Board might say, for example, We don’t -- we're not satisfied this is necessary, we don't have any basis for thinking that it is.  And they could either say, No, or they could go back to parties and say, We're interested in this, but show us why it’s necessary.  And all of -- and that would be the forum in which Enbridge would be able to say, It's not necessary for the following reasons, and here’s, you know, our submission on that.

Frankly, Union's view would be, or at least our hope would be, that it would be unnecessary for the Board, at large, to deal with this issue in the context of a traditional hearing, with evidence and cross-examination and so on.  It seems to us to be an issue that is eminently susceptible of treatment through an oral -- through a written process.  But that would be, of course, up to the Board to decide.  

     MR. BETTS:  Thank you. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Mr. Betts, can I just respond to that?

     I don't agree with that answer, by the way.  The agreement itself is evidence.  And then you also have evidence before you that Enbridge has filed its three-year plan.  That's recited in the agreement.  And you have evidence that Union's plan is pending -- again, a multi-year plan.  So there is evidence to support the efficiency suggestion that’s reflected in the agreement, in my submission. 

     MR. BETTS:  Thank you.  And the evidence -- I guess, the primary evidence supporting, in your opinion, the need for this review, or the need for commonality, rests in the agreement of most of the parties?  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Correct.  And the two applications, one pending to be filed, one currently filed, for multi-year DSM plans.  

     MR. BETTS:  Not to be argumentative, but we have many situations where applications are being made by both of these parties for rates, and many other things, and there is not -- that doesn't, in itself, define the need for commonality, normally. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  No. 

     MR. PENNY:  Perhaps I could just -- I don't disagree with what Mr. Thompson just said.  But I took you to be asking a more substantive question about whether there is actually evidence specifically addressing the need for this joint proceeding, and I don't believe there is any.   But I don't disagree with what Mr. Thompson said, the fact the parties have agreed, and this has been tendered before you, is some evidence of the parties’, at least, desire to have such a proceeding.  

     MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Penny, could you confirm for me.  The evidence regarding this multi-year DSM plan -- the evidence before us, is it a multi-year plan?  Or is it only for 2006?  I'm not clear on this.  

     MR. PENNY:  In Union's case? 

     MR. VLAHOS:  In Union's case. 

     MR. PENNY:  Union's evidence addresses only 2005, and it always only addressed 2005.  So even before there was a negotiation and a settlement agreement, the evidence that's being brought forward in this proceeding was only addressing 2005. 

     MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  But the plan -- the pending 

plan -- 

     MR. PENNY:  But our -- we want to develop a plan to start 2006 that would be a multi-year plan.

     MR. VLAHOS:  All right.

     MR. PENNY:  That's our intention. 

     MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  That's what I wanted to clarify. 

     So let's talk about the practicality of September.  You want to be able to implement the structural features of that plan -- I guess you want to start September, which means you have to have the decision a good many weeks before that 

     MR. PENNY:  Yes.  On the structural issues, that's correct.      


MR. VLAHOS:  That's right.  

     MR. PENNY:  Yes.  

     MR. VLAHOS:  So here we are in, almost, May.  So are we being practical here?  I mean, if the Board were inclined to -- if the Board, at large, were inclined to institute such a proceeding, what are the practical considerations here?  

     MR. PENNY:  Well, it is a practical concern.  We certainly acknowledge that.  The reality of the situation, from Union's perspective, is that we would be -- it would 

-- we could file evidence, if that was the approach that was taken, or something like evidence, if it was more of a written process, within four to six weeks of Board direction on that.

     So if we had Board direction -- early Board direction on that, and if the process was designed in such a way as to not call for an extended hearing process, then it seems to us that it is doable.  It may be ambitious, but it does seem to us to be capable of being done.  

     Of course, in saying this, I'm assuming that it is narrow in scope to the type of things that are specifically addressed in the agreement itself.  Not the -- not the -- not some comprehensive, generic DSM investigation, Royal Commission.  

     MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you.  

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Penny, do you have any comments on Mr. Thompson's comments with respect to costs, that had to do with whether you should be bearing the costs of this part of the proceeding, or Enbridge should?  I'm talking about the Enbridge motion now.  

     MR. PENNY:  Yes, I understand, sir. 

     I think our -- it seems, to us, small in the scheme of things.  We don't want to be vindictive about this.  We will leave that to you.  I have no submission on that issue, sir.  

     MR. KAISER:  We will reserve on the -- on our response to the motion until we come back from the lunch break at 1:30. 

     At that time, we will hear some preliminary submissions on the preliminary issue about whether we should even hear argument at this time on the cushion gas matter -- you know, this jurisdictional issue.  

    
And I think you’ve raised -- Mr. Lyle may correct me, was there a motion or an indication from your client that this Panel should recuse itself, because of the position that the Board has taken in that proceeding?  

     MR. PENNY:  Yes, Mr. Chairman.  Could I -- if I could just back up one step.  Mr. O'Leary would maybe speak to this, but I suspect Mr. O’Leary may have wanted to have some reply --       

MR. KAISER:  Oh, I'm sorry --

     MR. PENNY:  -- on this motion.   

     MR. KAISER:  I was just trying to --   
  

     MR. O'LEARY:  I hope to be very brief, sir, but -- 

     MR. KAISER:  Do you want to do that now, or do you want to do that when we come back? 

     MR. O'LEARY:  I'm in your hands, sir.  I'm pleased to do it now or when __ 

     MR. KAISER:  All right.  Why don't you do it now.  I didn’t mean to -- 

     Mr. Lyle, did you have any comments you wanted to make?  

     MR. LYLE:  No, Mr. Chair.  


REPLY SUBMISSIONS BY MR. O’LEARY:

     MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Chair, just to respond to some of the comments by my friends. 

     I’ll start with Mr. Thompson's comments about your ability to rely on the settlement agreement as evidence in support of Issue 3A.  While the Rules do indicate that the settlement agreement itself forms part of the evidence, it should be understood by this Panel that there are no objections in 3A -- no wording in 3A that emanated from Enbridge by virtue of decisions made.  So the -- that document should not, in our respectful submission, be treated as evidence, because the actual objections of Enbridge were not articulated in that document. 

     But in listening to the totality of the positions of the various parties, perhaps, if I may, just to tie it all together, we have Mr. Warren and his client CCC, that, as I interpret what they're asking for, is a broad, comprehensive, generic review.  

     Mr. Chair and Panel Members, if I could turn you to their letter, which is at tab 17 of the Enbridge materials, the very last page.  And as one of my friends quite correctly pointed out, this letter followed the settlement proposal by one day, so surely they're intricately linked. 

     But if we look at the laundry list that is contained on page 3, it is our respectful submission that it’s abundantly clear what we're talking about is a comprehensive, generic review, which is what issue 3A is asking this Panel to show preference for, including - look at item 1 - incentives, including the public policy considerations, the need for incentives.  So not the question of whether or not there is commonality or uniformity between the two.  But whether or not we have an SSM.  

     I will move matters along quickly.  Item 7, DSMVA.  Same request:  whether is there a need for, and structure.  So it goes far beyond simple framework, as Mr. Thompson may have suggested.

     So the position of CCC is that it's a very broad, generic, policy review.  

     The position of some of the other intervenors, if I interpreted the comments of Mr. Poch or Mr. Klippenstein correctly, is that they don't interpret the request in 3A as being as broadly framed as CCC.  And then Mr. Thompson seems to be somewhat for and somewhat against, indicating that he doesn't believe that the interpretation given by Mr. Poch is correct, that it's not so narrowly constrained; yet it is not as broadly constrained perhaps as Enbridge has suggested in proceedings to date.  


The concern is one of perception.  There is an issue before this Panel.  If there is no agreement on it, and it was not included in the complete settlement, what do you do?  Normally what transpires is there is evidence, cross‑examination, interrogatories.  Whether that is all necessary before you make a decision in respect to 3A, our position would be we're not sure at this time, but certainly the company's position is that there is evidence that would be appropriate to be filed in respect of that issue.  


Number one is manpower, the issue of whether or not Enbridge has the ability to participate in a comprehensive review or a joint review at the same time as it's participating in its 2006 rates case, at the same time as the regulatory staff is participating in the transactional services proceeding.  


So we want to speak to the ability, the practical realities, of whether or not such a proceeding make sense and whether it is capable of being achieved - in other words, a decision of any Panel - such that its rates can then be prospectively determined for 2006.  One of my friends expressed concern that that not ‑‑ that objective not be overlooked.  


The evidence that Enbridge would file would relate to whether there is a need for such a proceeding, whether it is in the public interest from the perspective of the costs.  If we're talking about the casual technical work ‑‑ technical review, technical conference, something as the company has suggested in its reply to the CCC letter, perhaps that might be something that would be in the public interest, given the costs that are associated with it.  


But the company would wish to speak to a comprehensive, expensive review of the nature that occurred in EBO169 some ten years ago, which went on for the better part of a year.  


We would also wish to file evidence with respect to the uniformity and the commonality of certain programs that already exist and, therefore, the lack of need for development of framework issues, so we could scope down what is the request to this Panel in Issue 3A.  


But that didn't occur, because this issue did not come up until the filing of the settlement proposal, in a formal perspective.  And I certainly don't want to go into what was discussed at the settlement conference, at all, but some of the characterizations best left it saying that they're not exactly accurate as to what transpired.


There were several questions from the Panel in respect of how -- if there was a review after the 2006 rates decision in respect of Enbridge is made, how some sort of a framework review would impact on the future DSM plans of Enbridge, given that it's looking for a multi‑year approval, a three‑year approval.  And I circulated, just after the break, what has been marked as Exhibit G1.4, and this is taken from the 2006 filing of Enbridge.  And it specifically answers the question ‑ I believe it was from yourself, Mr. Betts - as to how you would apply any changes that evolve from the framework review to future years.  


If I could just direct you to the first full paragraph -- the second paragraph, I believe, the first sentence, where it states:  

"Where amendments to the three-year DSM plan can be dealt with as part of the annual rate case, the company proposes that this process would still apply."


So in other words, if there is something that comes out of a framework review that would require some tinkering with the DSM plan in years going forward - in other words, 2007 and subsequently - the company contemplates that there would still be a process whereby those requested amendments be put before the Board for a review and, where appropriate, a revision to the earlier order.  


In conclusion, Mr. Chair, there seems to be continuity, unanimity amongst all the parties that this Panel is not being asked to do anything in respect of 3A; yet, the fact is you have a non‑settled issue which appears in the settlement agreement, and the concern is that by doing nothing, it leaves the perception that the issue was dealt with and adjudicated upon and this Panel actually dealt with the matter.  


Our respectful submission is that the matter -- the language should have been tighter, should have been included under 3B to the effect that there were certain assumptions or certain agreement between some of the parties, but certainly not presented to you as a live issue for adjudication upon by this Panel in this proceeding.  


It is not a matter, in our submission, that need be dealt with by this Panel, given that the Board at large is now dealing with it as a result of the CCC letter request.  


Those are our submissions, sir.  


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Just one comment.  You made some submissions just a moment ago as to -- that this severance procedure, generic procedure, may create delays, and you have said that before.  At the same time, you have argued that we don't have the jurisdiction - this Panel, in any event - to decide this issue, which most parties seem to agree with.  You made the point that a day after the settlement agreement, Mr. Warren ran off to another forum and is now there.  


Do you contemplate that you will be sending in a letter to the Chairman explaining your views?  Is that where you expect this will all get resolved now, or are you asking us to carry some message, however ‑‑ in whatever fashion, back to the Chairman, who, as you pointed out yourself, is charged statutorily with making any decision, whether there is going to be a new proceeding or a new panel?


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, sir.  In fact, there was a letter which was forwarded.  It was a high-level response to the CCC letter, and that was delivered late last night and I believe it was circulated earlier today and marked as Exhibit G1.3, and that is the company's response to the CCC letter.  


There may be a response to the VECC letter.  I'm not certain of that.  But I would anticipate that if there are other submissions made by other parties in respect to the CCC letter, the company would also wish to respond to those, but we submit the response is to the Chair of the Ontario Energy Board, rather than through yourself.  


MR. KAISER:  All right.  

Mr. Lyle, anything further before we break?  


MR. LYLE:  No, Mr. Chair.  


MR. PENNY:  Mr. Chair, you asked me about this afternoon, and I wondered if you wanted to ‑‑ a response to the question that you had asked. 


MR. KAISER:  If you could, I think Mr. Betts may have had a question -- it may have been to Mr. O'Leary. 


MR. BETTS:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  

Just one closing question to Mr. O'Leary.  It comes with this ‑‑ I'm sure this will be discussed in some place in the Board, as well as this Panel for sure.  I just wanted to understand your use of the words "comprehensive" or "a generic" ‑‑ let me get the ‑‑ you can quote them better than me.  What was the phrase that you coined for this?  


MR. O'LEARY:  Well, and you are correct in pointing the finger at myself.  A comprehensive generic DSM proceeding.  


MR. BETTS:  Okay.  And certainly in defence of that, you've referred to the CCC letter and you described the list of items that they've included.  But when referring to the 3A item in the agreement, I see the words that describe "a proceeding to deal with common DSM framework issues for Union and EGD".  


Do you think that describes the comprehensive generic DSM framework proceeding?  


MR. O'LEARY:  Sir, I started, when I reviewed the settlement proposal right at the beginning and right before the bullets, the seven of them that are lined up, the words appear "these DSM framework issues include", and the lawyer in me says that when you use a word like that, it means there is nothing excluded.


And that's some of the items that are addressed presently, but there is no limitation in the issue, as framed, on a party coming forward and saying, Well, there should be additional items.  There should be at least the laundry list the CCC asked for, and perhaps others.  


As a result, the interpretation, the concern that arises is that what, in fact, is referenced here is more than the narrow scope that some parties have alluded to, and it is more likely that it is the broader scope that others have suggested is the interpretation they place on it. 

     MR. BETTS:  Well, let me see if I can pin you down with this one.  If the proceeding as described in 3A were -- proceeded precisely on the terms that I read there, without any additional items being added, do I take it that Enbridge would agree to it?  

     MR. O'LEARY:  Sir, the concern is, to be specific -- let’s on page 6, the fifth bullet - the short answer is, No.  For example, where it says LRAM structure, there already is a great deal of uniformity in the LRAM between the two utilities.  

     The only reasonable interpretation that we arrive at is that the request is, in terms of framework issues, whether or not the framework should be the same, that is to say, that neither company has an LRAM.  There would be uniformity, in that it be denied for both.  So, therefore, we see this as going far beyond the interpretation that Mr. Thompson has given to it, by virtue of that and the DSMVA, which has a great deal of similarity as well, are up for grabs.  

     MR. BETTS: Thank you. 

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Penny, did you wish to --

     MR. PENNY:  You had asked about the -- an issue about recusal. 

     MR. KAISER:  Yes.  

     MR. PENNY:  And yes -- to give you the background briefly.  It was Union's intention last week to file a motion with respect to that issue.  And you're correct that it relates to the Board's intervention in the ATCO appeal.  And I sent a letter on that last week.  

     Because -- we got wind of the procedural order that we're here today on, and decided to wait and see what that was.  And then, when we saw it, it has -- the third item is to make submissions on whether the hearing of this should be deferred until after the Supreme Court decides the ATCO case. 

     And we thought, in respect for the Board and efficiency, that it would be better to -- and not wanting to pre-empt the Board on that issue, that we would defer filing the motion, because we would not file the motion if the Board were to decide to await the Supreme Court of Canada decision in ATCO.  But we have that motion available, and if the Board were to decide it wanted to proceed with this hearing, then we would want to bring that motion on.  

     MR. KAISER:  So if I have it then, when we come back, we will deal with the simple issue, if I can put it that way, of whether we should simply defer it.  And then, if necessary, the recusal --

     MR. PENNY:  That's correct.  

     MR. KAISER:  -- issue.

     Thank you.  We will come back in an hour.  

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:50 p.m.


‑‑‑ On resuming at 1:50 p.m.   


RULING ON MOTION BY EGD:


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  

This morning the Board heard an application by Union Gas for approval of a settlement agreement filed with the Board on April 7th.  The settlement agreement was filed pursuant to Union's application of February 4th for orders approving proposals with respect to 2003 earnings sharing disposition, the 2004 deferral account disposition and the 2005 demand-side management.


There was complete agreement on all aspects of the settlement agreement, except Issue 3A, which dealt with the DSM framework, and Issue 4, which dealt with the disposition of cushion gas.


The Board also heard submissions with respect to the notice of motion filed by Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc. on April 18th.  Enbridge was seeking orders from the Board relating to Issue 3A, which requested the Board establish a generic DSM proceeding. 


Enbridge sought orders confirming that the Panel either didn't have jurisdiction to establish such a proceeding, or would not in the instant case take those steps.


In the end, all of the parties agreed that this Panel, at least, did not have the authority to establish a generic proceeding.  This Panel agrees with that position.  As Enbridge pointed out, the statute provides that only the Chairman of the Board can establish a proceeding and appoint a new panel to hear any such matter.


Accordingly, it is not necessary for the Board to rule on that matter.  We note two things, that none of the parties suggested that the establishment of a generic proceeding was a condition of this Board's approval of Union's DSM proposals for 2005 and, in any event, the Consumers Council has filed a letter with the Chairman dated April 8th requesting that the Board, as a whole, consider the establishment of such a generic hearing with respect to DSM matters that are common to both gas utilities.


Various submissions were made by the parties with respect to the merits of such a common hearing, including whether such a hearing would delay the multi‑year rate applications that have been filed by Enbridge and similar applications contemplated by Union.  On the other hand, parties, such as IGUA, advanced the case that such a generic proceeding might, in fact, streamline the process.  


This Panel finds it is not necessary to take a position with respect to those matters.  To the extent those are positions that need to be considered by the whole Board, they can be advanced as they currently are.  We note that Enbridge has filed a comment with respect to the submission that Mr. Warren has made on behalf of his client to the Chairman, and presumably there will be other comments from other parties in that regard.


Accordingly, the Board is now prepared to approve the settlement agreement, with the exception, of course, of Issue 4, which, as I indicated, is the disposition of gains with respect to cushion gas.  But we will reserve on that aspect of the settlement agreement, pending a hearing of submissions from the various parties with respect to the jurisdiction of the Board to deal with that matter at the current time, in light of the pending case before the Supreme Court of Canada, that being the appeal from the Alberta Court of Appeal in the ATCO Gas case.


Mr. Penny, were you prepared to proceed?


MR. PENNY:  I am, Mr. Chairman.  Thank you for that ruling, and thank you on behalf of Union and the parties for adopting the settlement agreement.  


MR. POCH:  Mr. Chairman, I'm sorry.  Mr. Penny, if I may, just before Mr. Penny gets rolling on that, Mr. Chairman, at least for myself - and there may be others who are not involved in the cushion gas matters - I would ask your permission to excuse ourselves.  In that regard, that would conclude our involvement in this hearing, given the Board's acceptance of the DMS aspect.  


Would it be necessary for us to formally apply for costs, or can we take it as read that we wish to be considered for that?


MR. KAISER:  I think we can take it as read, unless anyone is refusing costs, we will assume that all the intervenors are applying for costs, and we will issue our ruling on costs in due course.


MR. POCH:  Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.  I will excuse myself.  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  

Do you have anything, Mr. O'Leary?


MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Chair, just my colleague and I were just discussing matters when you made a comment a moment ago about costs, and I believe we missed your statement.  If I ‑‑


MR. KAISER:  I simply said we would provide our ruling on costs in due course.


MR. O'LEARY:  In respect of the application?


MR. KAISER:  Yes.


MR. O'LEARY:  As opposed to the motion?


MR. KAISER:  Well, with respect to both.


MR. O'LEARY:  All right.


MR. KAISER:  One of the issues that was raised by Mr. Thompson is as to whether you should bear the costs with respect to the motion and/or whether Union should.  Mr. Penny, as I recall, took no position on that matter.


MR. O'LEARY:  Are you seeking comments or submissions?


MR. KAISER:  If you have submissions on that, feel free to make them.


MR. O'LEARY:  Is now an appropriate time, sir?


MR. KAISER:  Yes, certainly.


SUBMISSIONS RE COSTS BY MR. O'LEARY:

MR. O'LEARY:  I'll be very brief.  It's just three things.  Number one is that it would be, in my experience, somewhat contrary to the usual practice to seek costs directed at a party participating in a proceeding particularly where, in our respectful submission, there has been a successful result and that we have clarified what it is that this Panel's role is in respect of Issue 3A.  


Secondly, we think it of benefit not only to the Panel, but to all parties, to determine what is the particular understanding of each of those parties in respect of Issue 3A, and, therefore, there is value that's been provided as a result of the motion.  Therefore, it would be inappropriate to direct costs be payable by Enbridge.


And, finally, sir, in respect of whether or not the costs of IGUA should be specifically ordered to be paid, we submit that there is very little evidence of effort, other than Mr. Thompson's oral participation today.  He would obviously have been here, in our respectful submission, in any event, and therefore, it is not necessary to order costs and we would suggest that you do not entertain that request.


MR. KAISER:  Any response, Mr. Thompson?


MR. THOMPSON:  No.  I would simply be repeating myself.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Penny.


MR. PENNY:  Yes, thank you, Mr. Chairman.


MR. O'LEARY:  With your leave, those are the submissions of Enbridge.  We won't be participating in the balance of today's proceedings, so if we may?  


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. O'Leary.  Thank you, gentlemen.


MOTION BY UNION GAS LIMITED TO DEFER HEARING:


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. PENNY:

MR. PENNY:  Mr. Chairman, I put together a bundle material, which I was going to refer to in respect of my submissions on Issue 3 from Procedural Order 3.  It starts with a photocopy of the Alberta Court of Appeal decision in ATCO, and there are handwritten pages in the upper right starting with "1".  And then, I received, I will ‑‑ last night, via Mr. Whiteman, electronically a copy of the Ontario Energy Board factum filed, after leave was granted, with the Supreme Court of Canada in the ATCO appeal.  And I would be making some reference to that.  


That I didn't have it in time for the package, but I believe Mr. Whiteman has copies.






MR. KAISER:  Yes, we have copies.  Thank you.


MR. LYLE:  Mr. Chair, we will mark Mr. Penny's compendium of materials as Exhibit G1.5.

EXHIBIT NO. G1.5:  COMPENDIUM OF MR. PENNY'S MATERIALS

MR. LYLE:  And the OEB factum in the ATCO matter as exhibit G1.6.


EXHIBIT NO. G1.6:  OEB FACTUM IN ATCO MATTER

MR. PENNY:  So, Mr. Chair, the Board, in Procedural Order No. 3, requested submissions from parties on whether the hearing of evidence and arguments with respect to the 2004 cushion gas sale should be deferred pending the ATCO decision of the Supreme Court of Canada.  It seems appropriate, as the applicant for the Board, to expect we would have a position on that, so ‑‑ and we do, so with your leave I will start.

Union believes there is merit to this idea and that there are several good reasons for deferring the hearing on the 2004 cushion gas sale and awaiting the outcome of the ATCO appeal.  They really all relate to having clarity on the legal issues, promoting procedural efficiency and avoiding unnecessary proceedings and disputes, and avoiding unnecessary duplication and unnecessary wheel-spinning, the bifurcation of proceedings and the need to come back for further submissions, and things of that nature.  

     The starting point of that discussion, though, in my submission, should be a look at the ATCO decision and what it is about, as a backdrop to this decision.  And that's the first document in my bundle.  And I wanted to start at page 10 of that page where the Alberta Court of Appeal quotes the various statutory provisions that were in play.  It's page 8 of the decision, but page 10 of the -- with the handwritten number in the upper right. 

     On that page, the Court quotes various passages from the Gas Utilities Act, and the Alberta Energy Utilities Board Act and the Public Utilities Board Act.  And I would start at the top of page 10 with section 26(2) of the Gas Utilities Act, which provides that - 

“No owner of a gas utility designated under subsection 1 shall,”

and then sub (d) is - 

“without the approval of the Board, sell, lease mortgage or otherwise dispose of or encumber its property, franchises, privileges or rights, or any part of it or them.”  

     And that, while not exactly the same as the provision in the Ontario Energy Board Act is a structural parallel to section 43, which provides that no gas transmitter, distributor or storage company, without first obtaining from the Board an order granting leave, shall sell, lease or otherwise dispose of that part of the system -- of that system, that is necessary in serving the public.  I'm slightly paraphrasing there, just to make sense of the language.  

     And then, section 36, oddly, is the same -- has the same number as the Ontario Energy Board Act.  Section 36 is the jurisdiction to approve rates in the Gas Utilities Act.  And it provides that the Board, on its own initiative or on the application of a person having an interest, may, by order in writing, which is to be made after giving notice to and hearing the parties interested, fix just and reasonable individual rates, joint rates, tolls or charges, et cetera, et cetera.    

     And that, again, while not exactly the same, is the structural analogue to section 36 of the Ontario Energy Board Act which, of course, as you know, provides that no gas transmitter, distributor, or storage company may sell gas or charge for the transmission, distribution or storage of gas, except in accordance with an order of the Board.  And under sub (2), that the Board may make orders approving and fixing just and reasonable rates for the sale of gas, or for the transmission, distribution and storage of gas.  

     And then, there are perhaps even more parallel -- statutory parallels than the one I'm focusing on, but I just thought I would touch on what I regard as the key three ones.  If you turn the page to page 11, there is a provision under the Alberta Energy Utilities Board Act, section 15(3), which is the power -- grants a power to the AEUB to make any further order and impose any additional conditions that the Board considers necessary in the public interest. 

     And there is, again, a structural analogue to that provision in the Ontario Energy Board Act, which is section 23, which provides that the Board, in making an order, may impose such conditions as it considers proper, and an order may be general or particular in its application.  

     So we have, in my submission, as a starting point, a statutory framework in which the -- while not exactly the same, has structural similarities in -- that are in play in the Alberta case involving ATCO, and, of course, in this case, involving Union Gas and the sale of cushion gas. 

     If you then turn to page 12, we've got the listing of the issues in the Alberta Court of Appeal -- that were before the Alberta Court of Appeal.  And there are two that are, potentially, in play here in the Union case, the first and the third. 

     The first is, does the Board have jurisdiction to allocate the proceeds of the sale of the stores block to ratepayers or customers? 

     The second was whether the Trans-Alberta case, which was an Alberta Court of Appeal decision from 1986, was a precedent from a jurisdictional standpoint.  And that issue, while not strictly speaking in play here, is indirectly in play, because the Trans-Alberta case is a relevant case, which deals with the AEUB jurisdiction, and it would certainly be part of Union's argument in this case. 

     And then, thirdly is the Board, in effect, engaging in retroactive rate-making.  And that was an issue about whether, you know, the allocation of gains from sales could be redistributed in a -- where there was a final rate order outstanding.  And that is, potentially, also, an issue that is in play in the Union case. 

     If you then turn to page 14 of the bundle, we've got the brief conclusion of the Alberta Court of Appeal, where, in paragraph 40, they say -

“In applying the correctness standard of review to the first issue under appeal,” 

and that was the issue of the power to allocate gains,

“this Court finds that the Board acted beyond its jurisdiction, by misapprehending it's statutory and common law authority.  Therefore, the Board's decision should be set aside.”  

As a result, they say, the second and third issues need not be separately determined. 

     And as I understand it -- in the -- before the Supreme Court of Canada, the order - it is later on in this bundle, but I don't think we need to turn it up - the order of the Supreme Court of Canada granting leave in this case did not stipulate a particular question or questions.  And those -- the questions that are before the Court are -- in effect, arise out of the facta that have been filed by the parties.  And they certainly raise -- although perhaps worded slightly differently, they certainly raise both issue one and issue three that I read to you a moment ago from the ATCO case.

     So both the issue of the jurisdiction to allocate gains and the issue of retroactive rate-making where there’s an outstanding final order are issues that are before the Supreme Court of Canada in the ATCO case.  

     If you then go down to paragraph 41, I thought it would be worth looking at a few of the excerpts of the analysis and the decision, to get a flavour for what issues the Alberta Court of Appeal was focusing on and what their findings were.  So in paragraph 41 we see, in the latter part of the paragraph, the Board saying: 

          “In these circumstances, the Board's” -- 

or the Court of Appeal, excuse me --

“the Board's allocation of the proceeds of sale to customers as part of an approval-of-sale process, in effect, is taking the property of ATCO.  To do so the Board must have express or implied authority.  Such authority would derive either from statute or common law.  In this case, the statutory authority would have to be found in the provisions of the statutes quoted, and the common law authority would have to be found in the regulatory compact referred to by the Board.”  

     Then if you turn the page to paragraph -- to page 15, paragraph 46, which is in the middle of the page, the Court of Appeal says that -

“While the Board appears to have found that the ability to use the stores block assets for utility services continued, the Board did not dispute the fact that the utility services are being or will be provided at another location at a lower cost to customers.  Thus the statement that the Board is not persuaded that the assets are now non-utility by virtue of being no longer required for utility service is, with respect, specious.  If the Board accepted that the assets were no longer required for utility service, it is difficult to accept that they now -- are now not non-utility for the purposes of jurisdiction in the context of the public interest referred to in the condition making power of the AEUB.” 

     And then in paragraph 48, the Court goes on to say -

“In addition, the Board's findings that it may include in the definition of revenue an amount payable to customers representing accumulated depreciation paid by them,”

-- because, in the ATCO case, there were some depreciable assets and non-depreciable assets -- the Court says: 

“begins and ends with the issue of depreciation.  The allocation of accumulated depreciation to customers in line nine of paragraph 26 serves the interest of customers on this issue.”  

     Now, that -- and then the Court of Appeal then goes on to deal with the case principally on the basis of the non-depreciable assets, which made up by far and away the bulk of the gain that was the subject of the hearing.  I think over 90 percent of the gain, as I recall, was attributable to non-depreciable assets.  And that, of course, is a significant parallel to the Union case, because we're dealing with cushion gas, which -- in respect to which there is no depreciable aspect:  it is purely a non-depreciable asset. 

     Then the Court -- and that's part of the Court's analysis of the actual powers.  And the Court then also goes on to talk about other ways that tribunals can obtain powers, and they turn to the Bell Canada case.  And you will see at the end of paragraph 49, they say that the powers of any administrative tribunal must be stated in its enabling statute but may also exist by necessary implication from the wording of the Act, its structure and its purpose:

"The Board has been granted the power to regulate public utilities by provisions such as section 36, which is the rate-making power, which grants the Board the power to fix just and reasonable rates.  In fixing such rates, the Board is authorized to take into consideration a broad number of factors.  For example, in section 91 and 37, the Board may consider revenue and costs of the owner, costs of property and all relevant facts.  Section 15(3) of the AEUB permits the Board to make any further order and impose any additional conditions that the Board considers necessary in the public interest.  This gives the Board wide discretion to carry out its purposes as noted by Karens, J.A., in TransAlta."


Then if you drop down to paragraph 52, they say:

"No provision expressly grants the Board authority to allocate proceeds from the sale of property belonging to an owner of a public utility.  As already noted, section 26 simply requires Board approval where the sale of a property of the owner of a gas utility is considered to be outside the ordinary course of business.  It is silent on the Board's power to deal with sale proceeds."


Then they go on to say:  

"None of the express provisions, by necessary implication, grant the Board jurisdiction to allocate sale proceeds.  When fixing fair and reasonable rates, the Board is permitted to consider factors such as the cost of property, depreciation and amortization.  Such consideration, however, does not necessarily imply the jurisdiction to order a reallocation of property.  In these circumstances where the utility owner seeks approval for a sale of property owned by the utility and sold outside the ordinary course of business, and where the application is not part of a general application proceeding, the Board's enabling legislation has not given it the power to redistribute the proceeds from the sale strictly on the basis that it would be fair and reasonable."


I would, in my submission, that ‑‑ it is ‑‑ that would ‑- without commenting on the merit of the argument, because of course we're a long way away from there, but those similar considerations apply here.  The issues will be whether the legislation in Ontario expressly contains the power to allocate gains.  I think it is clear on its face it does not.  


One would expect that there will be arguments by parties as to whether those powers can be implied by necessary implication.  So that issue is -- it is highly likely, in my submission, that that issue will be in play in the Union case.  


And of course, this case arises -- this application that is before you today does not arise in the context of a general rate application or general rate proceeding.


I would flip over to page 17 of this bundle, paragraph 60 of the Court of Appeal's decision, where they say they have reviewed some prior decisions, Northwestern Utilities, a case that Union will be relying upon, TransAlta, a case that Union will be relying upon in this proceeding, and say:  

"None of these decisions provide express or implied authority enabling the Board to confiscate the property of a utility company derived from the sale of a part of its property outside the ordinary course of business and in circumstances where no harm to customers is found to exist as a result of the sale.  That is the situation here."


And then on page 18, in paragraph 60, I won't ‑‑ I marked the whole paragraph.  I don't think it is necessary to read it all, but you will see that the Court of Appeal says the Board did not find the sale would bring harm to customers.  The finding was quite to the contrary.  In decision 2001‑78 the Board stated that it was persuaded customers will not be harmed by the sale with prudent lease arrangements to replace the sold facility.  


And of course there is a threshold issue, I suppose, in the Union case, which we don't have pleadings, so it is not clear what parties will necessarily rely upon, but we have some indication, at least from Mr. Ryder, what he will be taking the position that the threshold for the Board's authority to approve transactions is triggered in this case, or at least potentially triggered.  So there will be an issue about whether ‑‑ in part, a factual issue and, in part, a jurisdictional issue about whether the Board has authority under section 43 at all, and, if so, what the scope of that authority would be.


And that, of course, was in play in the ATCO case.  There have been some quotes from -- in paragraph 65, from some -- two U.S. decisions, one from the New York Telephone case from the U.S. Supreme Court, and one from the Pennsylvania State Court, both of which say that ratepayers are ‑‑ sorry, the Philadelphia Suburban Water case says that ratepayers are not entitled to the gain from the sale of the non‑depreciable assets, and the New York Public Commissioners and New York Telephone case stands for the proposition that customers pay for service, not for the property used to render it, and that by paying bills per service, they do not acquire any interest, legal or equitable, in the property used for their convenience or in the funds of the company.  And those will be cases that Union will rely upon in this proceeding.


So then over the page, paragraph ‑‑ page 19, excuse me, paragraph 67, the conclusion, that:

"There is no express or implied authority in the governing legislation, case law or through the regulatory compact which empowers the Board to allocate the proceeds from the sale of assets after recovery of the original costs, accumulated depreciation, disposition and related costs from sale of a property formerly used in the provision of services to customers when no harm to the public was found at the time.  The Board approved the sale absent this authority.  The Board has no jurisdiction to do what it did."


So that's, running through quickly, the key issues that were in play in and were decided by the Alberta Court of Appeal, and, in my submission ‑‑ and of course are now pending before the Supreme Court of Canada in the City of Calgary's appeal from that decision.  And, in my submission, the ‑‑ again, while not exactly parallel, the statutory scheme is substantially similar, certainly structurally similar, and the issues and circumstances surrounding the case are also substantially similar.


The next document ‑‑ set of documents in the bundle, Mr. Chairman, are taken from the Ontario Energy Board's motion to intervene in the ATCO case.  I just wanted to go to those briefly.  Page 23 of the bundle is the first page of the notice of motion.  I just want to focus on two paragraphs.  Paragraph 1, the Ontario Energy Board sought leave to intervene in the ATCO case before the Supreme Court of Canada on the basis -- on the basis, number one, that:

"The Court of Appeal's decision, if broadly interpreted and upheld by this honourable court, could prevent the utility regulators, such as the OEB, from taking proceeds of sale of utility assets into account when setting rates for utility services."  


And, then secondly, over the page, paragraph 2:

"The result of the above would be that the OEB would lose an important regulatory instrument that it has used for several years.  It would, therefore, be directly and adversely impacted by this result."


So certainly the Board took the view that the ‑‑ that the outcome of the ATCO case would potentially have very significant implications for the Board's jurisdiction, and that, of course, is the very issue that is before you in the context of the Union Gas cushion gas sale.  


And, again, there is -- the affidavit of Mr. Vegh was filed in support of the Ontario Energy Board's intervention, and I wanted to refer to a few passages from that, which simply expand and emphasize this point.  


At page 28 of the bundle of documents at the bottom of the page, starting in paragraph 7 of the affidavit, Mr. Vegh deposed that:

"It is possible, although not entirely clear, that the Alberta Court of Appeal's decision below results in a restriction on the power to set just and reasonable rates that, if endorsed by this honourable court, could have a material impact on the jurisdiction of the OEB and, more specifically, seriously impede its ability to consider sale proceeds of utility assets in setting just and reasonable rates."


Then he goes on to say that the Court of Appeal's decision is open to two interpretations.  One is a narrow one, of course, and one is a broader one.  And the narrow ‑‑ on the narrow interpretation, it is possible that the case may not have implications for the Board.  I will come back to that issue.  I'm not sure I entirely agree with that.  


But, in any event, at the end of paragraph 9, Mr. Vegh says:

"However, if the broad interpretation is adopted by this Court and this Court upholds the decision of the Alberta Court of Appeal, then the OEB will have lost one of its key regulatory tools and will be adversely impacted by the outcome of the appeal.” 

     And then, apropos of that, he then goes on to consider the narrow and broad interpretation, and, in paragraph 12, when speaking of the broader interpretation, says there are other passages of the decision that suggest that the Court is taking a broad interpretation, namely, that the AEUB may not allocate a portion of net gain to ratepayers even when setting rates.  For example, the Court of Appeal stated that determinations of revenue which are critical to determination of rates cannot consider gains: 

"The Board's findings that it may include in the definition of ‘revenue’ an amount payable to customers representing accumulated depreciation paid by them through past rates begins and ends with the issue of depreciation.”

     He then goes on, as well, at paragraph 53:

“The Court stated, when fixing fair and reasonable rates, the Board is permitted to consider factors such as the cost of the property, depreciation and amortization.  Such consideration, however, does not necessarily imply the jurisdiction to order a reallocation of property.”

     And then, finally, in this passage, Mr. Vegh says:

          “Further, the Court cited ” -- on behalf of the Board, I guess, is the point in this affidavit. 

“Further, the Court cited the decision in Philadelphia Suburban in concluding that the regulatory compact does not support a power to allocate a portion of the proceeds of the sale of a non-depreciable asset to the benefit of ratepayers.”  

     Then in his conclusion, on page 34 of the bundle, in paragraph 22, Mr. Vegh deposed that: 

“The Board has a direct interest in the outcome of this proceeding.  The Board's statutory mandate to set just and reasonable rates is very similar to that of the EUB.  A decision of this Honourable Court, finding that the EUB does not have the jurisdiction in setting rates to order the sharing of gains and losses on the sale of utility assets, may be directly applicable to the OEB.”  

And then he goes on to speak of what the OEB can

contribute to the appeal.  

     So the material filed on behalf of this Board, the Ontario Energy Board, clearly indicates that it, at least, believes that there are substantial similarities between the ATCO case and its own legislation, and the issue of the ability to allocate or give away to customers gains on the sale of non-depreciable property. 

     That is, I believe, further confirmed by the submissions that the Ontario Energy Board made once leave was granted.  I guess I skipped over that.  I don't know that -- I think it is uncontroversial that leave was granted to both the Ontario Energy Board, Union Gas and Enbridge.  And last Friday, each of those intervenors in the case filed factums with the Supreme Court of Canada.  

     The Board's factum is the one that has relevance to the current issue, I believe.  And you will see, if you turn to paragraph 8 -- this is G1.6, excuse me.  The submission relates to three issues.  I was just going to focus on the latter two.

     Paragraph 8 deals with the second issue, which concerns -- it says: 

“The interpretation of a prior decision of the Alberta Court of Appeal and whether this can be relied on to support the decision of the AEUB in this particular case” –- 

that's the Trans-Alta case I mentioned earlier --  

“The OEB does not agree with the characterization of the Court” -– 

that's the Alberta Court of Appeal, of course -- 

“That the decision of the AEUB was a confiscation of the property of the utility.  If this Honourable Court was to accept this characterization, it would obviously have an impact on the rate-making authority of public utility regulators.  However, this issue has been fully addressed by the other parties, and the OEB has nothing to add.

     But, again, the point being that the Board at least, obviously, considered that a material comparison to its own situation, and was concerned about it.  

     Then paragraph 9.  

“The third principal determination of the Court with respect to the regulatory compact is of great concern to the OEB.”  

And the Court cites two US Court decisions for the proposition that a distinction is to be drawn between depreciable and non-depreciable assets.  And it then goes on to quote from one of those – sorry, from the Court decision.  I won't read those. 

     Paragraph 11, though, indicates there is nothing in the language of the Court’s decision that explicitly limits its decision on the regulatory compact to circumstances where the AEUB is exercising its statutory authority to approve a disposition.  That's under section 26 of the Act. 

     On the contrary, the language of the decision suggests that the allocation of all of the gain on the disposition of non-depreciable assets to shareholders is a principle of general application that is not limited to the AEUB in its exercise of authority to approve disposition of assets.  This is particularly true in light of the fact that the two US court decisions cited by the Court involved the review of rate orders made by the respective public utility regulators.

     And then it goes on to repeat, basically, the same type of concern that was made in both the notice of motion and Mr. Vegh's affidavit, that if the Supreme Court adopts the reasoning of the Alberta Court of Appeal, it says:

“It is difficult to see why this reasoning would not apply equally to restrict the AEUB and, by extension, other public utility regulators, in exercising their rate-making authority.  Absent very explicit statutory authority, regulators would not, in setting rates, be able to allocate a portion of the proceeds of the sale of non-depreciable assets for the benefit of ratepayers.”  

     Then in page 9, paragraph 22, there is a further discussion of just and reasonable rates, where the factum refers to the third principle determination of the Alberta Court of Appeal that there is no basis to suggest that the "regulatory compact" supports a power to allocate the proceeds of sale of lands no longer required for utility purposes, would, if read broadly, run counter to the jurisprudence in Canada on the authority of public utility regulators to set just and reasonable rates.  And that, of course, again, is an issue that would be squarely engaged in the current proceeding.  And, certainly, I can tell you that it is Union's intention to rely upon the City of Edmonton and the BC Electric Railway case, in the hearing of the cushion gas issue.       

And I won't take you to it, but there is, then, a further submission at paragraph 28 in the conclusion which really just reiterates, if you will, the points that were already made.

     So, the point of going through this exercise is to show that the issue of jurisdiction is, if not exact, quite similar, substantially similar.  And it seems, to Union, highly likely that the Supreme Court of Canada decision in ATCO will, at the very least, be relevant to the resolution of the treatment of Union's cushion gas sale and may even be dispositive, in one way or the other.  And I don't mean to imply that there is any foregone conclusion: it could be dispositive against the Board's jurisdiction; it could be dispositive in favour of the Board's jurisdiction.  

     There is -- as I conceive it, Mr. Chairman, there’s really three possibilities with respect to the ATCO outcome. 

     The first would be that the ATCO case is so narrowly decided by the Supreme Court of Canada that it has no use or application whatsoever to the current case, even indirectly.  That, frankly, seems to us a highly unlikely result, given the substantial similarity of both the statutes and the issues, but it is, at least, a theoretical possibility, I suppose.

     The second possibility is that, while not dispositive of the Board’s jurisdiction, it is nevertheless relevant to the issue in some way, and informs the issue in a way that would be of assistance to the Board and the parties in knowing what to do and knowing what to argue, know what facts are relevant and which aren't, and so on.  Again, either, of course, for or against the Board's jurisdiction.  That outcome, frankly, seems to us highly likely, indeed the most likely, given, again, the substantial similarities of the statute and the issues.  

     And then the third possibility is the one I have alluded to already, of course, that the Supreme Court of Canada's decision is effectively dispositive of the Board's jurisdiction, again either for or against.  And as Mr. Vegh points out in his affidavit -- and as is alluded to in the factum -- that is at least a possible outcome and, in any event, might even be a likely outcome.  It is certainly well within the zone of reasonableness and, in fact, in my submission, is more likely than that the ATCO case is of no assistance whatsoever.  

     So on that analysis, one would say that, at the very least, it is likely that the Supreme Court of Canada decision will be relevant and informative, and, indeed, possible and reasonably possible that the Supreme Court of Canada decision may be dispositive of the issue of jurisdiction, one way or the other, and perhaps it is stating the obvious to say that if that were the case, that would effectively end the ‑‑ or make moot the most significant legal issue in this case.


So coming back, then, to the Union case, the scope of the threshold power to approve sales under section 43, there will be a question as to whether that includes a power to allocate gains from the sale of non‑depreciable property.  That's the exact analogue to what arose in the Alberta Court of Appeal decision with respect to section 26 of the Gas Utilities Act.  


There will be an issue about the general power under section 36 to fix just and reasonable rates and whether that includes a power to allocate gains from the sale of non‑depreciable property.  And that, of course, is again almost literally a direct analogue to that issue as dealt with by the Alberta Court of Appeal.


Then there would be, one presumes at least, argument from intervenors that even if neither of those statutory provisions conferred authority on the Board to allocate gains, that they have the power to impose conditions and one ‑‑ and I certainly anticipate arguments from ‑‑ I hope I'm not giving people ideas they didn't already have, but I certainly anticipate arguments from intervenors that whatever 43 and 36 say, the Board nevertheless has power under section 23 to impose conditions, and that, of course, is also an issue that is squarely addressed in the ATCO decision and is now before the Supreme Court of Canada.


And then ‑‑ and so that issue, it seems to me, Do the statutory powers include the power to allocate gains, is clearly a common issue.  


And then there is the further question of, If they do not, can that power be implied by virtue of the doctrine of necessary implication?  And, again, I don't want to give my friends a road map for their argument, but one reasonably anticipates that intervenors will take the position in the Union case that even if you don't have those powers explicitly, that they are necessary for the fulfilment of your functions and, therefore, can be implied by the doctrine of necessary implication.  


The same sort of ‑‑ and that, again, was an issue that was squarely raised in the ATCO decision and is part of what submissions of the parties and the intervenors are to the Supreme Court of Canada.


Then there is also the issue of policy objectives.  That, again, was an issue in the ATCO case.  Like the AEUB, this Board has certain policy objectives or guidelines, if you will, set out in the Ontario Energy Board Act.  There was an argument in ATCO that those policy objectives could be relied upon to inform the scope of the Board's jurisdiction.  Again, one reasonably expects that that issue would be raised here, as well.


I should have said earlier that, as I understand it, the appeal is scheduled to be argued on May the 11th.  The intervenors were not granted -- I think the parties probably know this, but the order of Justice Abella granting leave to intervene to the OEB in Enbridge and Union did not include a right to make any oral submissions.  


So our role is effectively done, but the appeal is scheduled to be argued by the active parties on May 11th.  And while of course one doesn't know when the Supreme Court may issue its decision, certainly based on my experience it would be reasonable to expect a decision in the fall of this year.


There is, therefore, a substantial similarity, in my submission, on the issue of jurisdiction between the ATCO case and the issues that are raised in this proceeding, and so I want to turn now to thinking through a little bit what would happen under different scenarios.  


If we proceed with this issue and without the benefit of the ATCO decision, it at the very least seems likely ‑‑ and whether the Board found it had the jurisdiction, didn't find it had the jurisdiction, whether the Board allocated the $12 million gain to the customers, whether it allocated it to Union, or possibly divvied it up in some way, it seems, in my submission, likely that there would be an appeal to the Divisional Court on that issue.  It's a clear issue of law on jurisdiction.  


The Divisional Court would likely wait for ATCO, if it weren't out yet, in my submission, by the time it reached the Divisional Court.  If it were out, clearly the Divisional Court would obviously take it into account on the assumption, as I have submitted earlier, that it was at least relevant if not dispositive.


And I would also ‑‑ so it seems to me that is a disadvantage of proceeding and an advantage of awaiting the outcome.  The Board is in a better position to assess the law and assess the facts in light of the law.  


If the ‑‑ and, as well, if the Board ‑‑ this is coming back to the factual issues, I guess.  If the Board proceeded without the benefit of the Supreme Court decision in ATCO, it is entirely possible that the necessary factual context either isn't explored in the evidence in quite the right way, or isn't addressed in the decision in quite the right way, as may be required as a result of the Supreme Court of Canada's decision.  


And then we're dealing with a situation in which it could ‑‑ the result could be, from an appeal to the Divisional Court, that it would be sent back to the Board for further hearing or re-hearing, in any event, because, as the Board knows, the legal parameters of an issue often frame the way the evidence is both presented and argued.


I would just say, in passing, that the same thing, the same risks, are out there.  If you took an approach, for example, like just hearing the case and reserving until the ATCO decision comes out, it seems to me there is no real cost benefit to that, because we're almost sure to have to come back and have further argument, at the very least further argument, and perhaps a different take on the evidence.  


And then I would say there is the separate ‑‑ so that is on the merits, if you will, of the jurisdictional issue.  Then there is the separate and additional issue of the potential bias and recusal point.


My letter of last week is attached to this bundle at the very end.  It is the last two pages.  I won't take your time to read it all now, but on the ‑‑ if we just turn to the second page, perhaps this is the most relevant portion of it.  


We say at the top of the page that, "This case", the cushion gas case:

"... will be the first time in a Union proceeding that the issue of the Board's jurisdiction to allocate to customers gains or losses on the sale of Union's non‑depreciable property that is not needed to serve the public is submitted to the Board for a fair and impartial jurisdiction.  This is the very issue, however, on which the Board has advocated, in its affidavit before the Supreme Court of Canada in ATCO, that it has such jurisdiction and would suffer great harm if the court on the ATCO appeal found otherwise."  


Then I say:

"The issue, therefore, is not only whether the Board has the jurisdiction to allocate the gains or losses from the sale of non‑depreciable property, there is now also a threshold issue of whether the Board is or to a reasonable observer appears to be in a position to adjudicate on the question of its jurisdiction in an unbiased manner, given its stated position before the Supreme Court in ATCO.  It appears to Union that there is clear evidence of a predetermined mind on the part of the Board on this important issue, such that there is an apprehension or appearance of bias to the reasonable observer."


Then I go on to say that we wanted to bring this issue to the attention of parties and that we didn't actually file a motion, because it may be moot as a result of the submissions that you're hearing now.


And the reason I say that is because, of course, the recusal issue arises as a result of the Board taking an advocacy position on its jurisdiction in other litigation.  And if the ‑‑ to come back to my three alternatives, if the Supreme Court of Canada's decision is ‑‑ certainly if it is dispositive of the issue of jurisdiction, then the Board's predetermined mind, in effect, becomes irrelevant on that issue, because someone else, a higher authority than any of us, has decided that issue.  


So that falls off the table.  And it is entirely possible that even on my second scenario, that if the decision is not dispositive, but still relevant, that that could also have -- depending on what it says, could also have the effect of causing Union's concern on the recusal issue to fall by the wayside.


So that issue, as well, may be rendered moot by the outcome of the ATCO case.  So if the issue of jurisdiction is resolved in ATCO, then both issues go away.  

     So again, it seems to us premature and inefficient to tackle the issue with the ATCO case pending so imminently. 

     In conclusion, then, in our submission, it would make for more clarity, more informed submissions, more informed decision-making and for more efficient regulation, to await the outcome of the highest Court's decision in ATCO before proceeding with the cushion gas hearing.  ATCO is a substantially similar case.  And while not arising in identical -- in the identical statutory or factual circumstances, they are nevertheless substantially the same.  It is highly likely, in my submission, that the Supreme Court of decision in ATCO will at least inform, if not dispose of the central issue of jurisdiction in this case.  And it may also render the issue of the appearance of bias moot.  

     And finally, I would say on this that there is no prejudice to anyone in awaiting the ATCO decision.  Union's not going anywhere.  It’s good for the money if its position does not ultimately prevail.  And so there is, in my submission, simply no issue of wasting assets or changing of position that creates any prejudice.  It’s just a dollar issue, and if the Board has the jurisdiction to do something about it, it will have that jurisdiction today and it will have it tomorrow, and, if it does not, then it didn't have it today and it won't have it tomorrow.  But it won't affect -- no parties' position will change in the interim to any prejudice or any detriment as a result of waiting for the Supreme Court of Canada.  And, in fact, as I've submitted -- in my submission, the parties will actually be better off, because they will be in a better position to speak intelligently about this issue. 

     So those are my submissions.  

     We support -- obviously we support the notion that it makes sense to await the ATCO decision, but we're ready to go if the Board thinks otherwise.  

     MR. KAISER:  On the issue of prejudice, I take it the $12 million is somewhere?  Is it in a special account?  Or simply in your bank account or --

     MR. PENNY:  It’s -- I would say it is not in a special bank account, but it’s recorded on the books of the company.  You will recall that the Board directive in 0063 was to treat it in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and so on.  We've done that, and the evidence is before you in the substantive case. So that is recorded, we know what the amount is, and, as I say, it is not -- in my submission, it is not an issue of the particular dollars, it is just a question of the value. 

     MR. KAISER:  I take it if some party had an interest 

about whether they were entitled to interest on that, you wouldn't contest that?  

     MR. PENNY:  Well, I wouldn't contest whether -- let me put it this way:  I won't contest their ability to raise that.  It will be a substantive issue as to whether they're entitled to it, but, no, people can ask for it. 

     MR. KAISER:  But if it was ultimately determined that the Board had jurisdiction and they were entitled to it, you wouldn't object to giving them interest on it?  

     MR. PENNY:  If the Board held they were entitled to interest, we wouldn't object to giving them interest.  But I would stop short of saying we wouldn't object, because that goes to the merits of the case.  I'm not sure -- I'm not sure what our position on that would be.  We might -- 

     MR. KAISER:  Your point, I thought, Mr. Penny, was, there is no prejudice in postponing this.  The money’s not going anywhere.  The parties will not be worse off if the matter is determined at a later date. 

     MR. PENNY:  Yes. 

     MR. KAISER:  I suppose the only argument -- nobody questions whether Union Gas is good for the money.

     MR. PENNY:  Yes.

     MR. KAISER:  The only question would be whether there is some kind of interest that would be accruing.

     MR. PENNY:  Right.  But then they're either entitled to it or they’re not.  And I think that is conceivably an issue that is in play.  But if they're entitled to it, then they will get it.  

     MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Penny, that issue would not arise if there was a deferral account today.  I mean, let me ask you:  is there a deferral account?  

     MR. PENNY:  There is not a deferral account today. 

     MR. VLAHOS:  Okay. 

     MR. PENNY:  The history of that is that, in the 0063 proceeding, the issue of cushion gas sales was raised.  There were -- there was at least one intervenor, if not more, who took the position -- or which took the position that there ought to be a deferral account created to capture any further cushion gas dispositions.  And that argument was made -- I believe it was the LPMA that initially raised the issue in the evidence portion. 

     It was at least the LPMA, but, I believe, some other intervenors, that then asked the Board to create a deferral account for that express purpose.  So this is an explicit request that was made in that case.  And at page 187 -- this is -- I'm referring to the evidence, I don't know if you brought the evidence, but it was appendix D to Union’s evidence in this case -- there is an excerpt from the Board's decision on this issue.   And at page 187 the Board says:

“The Board rejects the intervenor proposal to set up a deferral account to record the gains from disposition of assets.  The Board directs Union to track such dispositions within its accounting system under generally accepted accounting principles.  At the time of the next rate proceeding, the Board will consider the appropriate allocation,” 

and so on. 

     So it is correct to say that, if there was a deferral account, it would be, in the ordinary course, recording interest.  But there isn't one.  It was asked for, and the prior Panel of the Board rejected it.  And, in my submission, it is not -- it is now not possible to create one, because it would be retroactive.       


MR. VLAHOS:  Is it possible to create one that would be effective today?  

     MR. PENNY:  No, because it would be -- we're talking about a gain that was received in 2004.  That gain was received and is now part of the -- of the corporate revenue.  So it would be, by definition, retroactive. 

     MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  Thank you. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Mr. Penny, just before you leave that point.  My recollection is that I wrote a letter, in the run-up to this matter being listed for consideration, asking the company what it planned to do with respect to interest on the cushion gas claim, and my recollection is the company indicated it would pay interest, and specified the rate.  

     MR. PENNY:  I believe, Mr. Chairman, sir, if I could answer that through you, I believe that was with respect to earnings sharing.  I don't think the issue -- I don't recall the issue being raised at all with respect to cushion gas sales.  And, if it was, I don't recall Union having taken a position on that.  If I am wrong, of course, we will stand by what we said before.  But I believe Mr. Thompson is referring to the earnings-sharing issue, in which the company did agree.  Even though the Board had not stipulated interest on earnings-sharing amounts, the company agreed that it would pay them.  It would pay interest on earnings-sharing amounts.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  I don't have the letter here, but, obviously, we have to check it.  I thought it went to both topics, but you may be right.  

     MR. VLAHOS:  The letter would have preceded the Board's decision, Mr. Thompson.  That letter would have been reflected in the Board's decision, would it?  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, that's my understanding.  We weren't pushing for a deferral account, as I recall it - and I may be completely wrong - because of this acknowledgment.  That is my recollection. 

     MR. KAISER:  So you thought they’d made an undertaking?  

     MR. THOMPSON:  I thought they had, but it may just have been confined to earnings-sharing __ 

     MR. PENNY:  I may also -- I may have misunderstood.  I thought Mr. Thompson was talking about the more recent correspondence that preceded the Board's November decisions on this case.  But perhaps I misunderstood.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  No, that's what I'm talking about.  Yes.  

     MR. PENNY:  So it wasn't correspondence that preceded 0063, and the issue I was just addressing.  It was correspondence that preceded the constitution of this proceeding, to deal with the deferral accounts and DSM and earnings sharing and this issue.      


MR. VLAHOS:  Perhaps I can impose and start -- if I could just get a copy of that decision, gentlemen, and we can continue this. 

     Mr. Chair, I just want to take a look at that decision. 

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Lyle, can you see if you can find Mr. Thompson's letter?  I don't know whether it’s in the record or not. 

     MR THOMPSON:  It would have been --  

     MR. LYLE:  We will endeavour to find that, sir.  I do have a copy of the decision itself, Mr. Chair --

     MR. PENNY:  That's not the right decision.  That’s not what he’s saying.  I don't think so.  He's talking about November 2004, November 18th, 2004, I think.  

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Warren, do you have any submissions on this matter?  

     MR. WARREN:  Mr. Chairman, we are in agreement that the Board's consideration of the cushion gas issue should be deferred, pending the outcome of the Supreme Court of Canada decision.  And there are three reasons why my client takes that position.  

The first is what I will refer to as “process efficiency.”  It seems to us inarguable that the parties to the proceeding will have to argue the effect of the ATCO decision at some point.  Union has put the ATCO case in issue in the case.  It's like the elephant in the living room.  It can't be avoided by any party.  And it seems to me, with respect, Mr. Chairman, that we should await the Supreme Court of Canada decision before we that.


If we were to argue the implications, the effect of the ATCO decision now, there is no question that sooner or later we would have to argue the effect of the Supreme Court of Canada decision, as well.  There seems to me, seems to us, to be little point in doing it twice.  


I will leave aside the question that Mr. Penny has raised, as to whether or not there would be an appeal from any decision of the Board, but if that were the case, that would complicate it and the result would be parties would be arguing it several times.  


In our respectful submission, it makes sense to do that only once, and that is after the Supreme Court of Canada decision has been rendered.


The second issue, Mr. Chairman, is with respect to the question of jurisdiction.  Our position, my client's position, is that the ATCO case is distinguishable and that there is nothing to preclude the Board from proceeding now.  However, as Mr. Penny has pointed out, it is clear, from the Board's application for leave to intervene in the Supreme Court of Canada decision and from Mr. Vegh’s affidavit and from the factum, that the Board is, if I can put it this way, seeking -‑ this may be an unfair characterization, Mr. Chairman, but it would appear to be seeking direction from the Supreme Court of Canada on its jurisdiction, at least indirectly, by intervening in the ATCO decision, and it seems to me, in those circumstances, the appropriate thing for all of us to do would be to allow the Supreme Court of Canada to make its decision, and then, at the very least, there would be clarity for all parties to proceed.


The final position, Mr. Chairman, and subject to the resolution of this issue of interest, in my respectful submission there really is no prejudice to the parties in waiting ‑‑ if it were the case that it wasn't clear when the Supreme Court of Canada was going to hear this case, my submission on this point might be different.  But it is going to argue it within ‑‑ the argument is going to be heard within three weeks.  


In my experience, similar to Mr. Penny, is that the decision is likely to be rendered in the fall.  It strikes me as being, there is no prejudice to the parties if the matter is deferred.  There is no real reason why it needs to be resolved at this point; that is, the substantive issue on cushion gas.  


And to use the balance argument, the balance is substantially in favour, in my respectful submission, of deferring consideration of the issue.


So for those reasons, Mr. Chairman, we agree with Mr. Penny's position that the matter ought to be deferred pending the outcome of the Supreme Court of Canada proceeding.  


Thank you, sir.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  

Mr. Aiken, do you have any submissions?


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. AIKEN:

MR. AIKEN: Yes, sir.  My clients would also prefer to defer this issue, and their preference is on the basis of practical considerations.  Their major concern is a situation where the Board would find that some portion of the gain should be allocated to customers and rates would be reduced as a result of that.  


Then at some point in the future, as a result of the Supreme Court's decision and/or an appeal by Union, that reduction could effectively be clawed back from those customers, and we believe that would be confusing to customers, and that's the basis of the ‑‑ of our belief that we should deal with this later, rather than now.  And that's my submission.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  

Mr. Ryder.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. RYDER:

MR. RYDER:  Yes, sir.  We take the position, on behalf of the City of Kitchener, that the Board should hear the evidence and arguments.  So you will have some argument on the other side of this case that doesn't seem to have been spoken to so far.


I say so for the following reasons.  The first is that I don't think the Supreme Court of Canada decision will be dispositive of the case before you.  I say that because the issues which you must decide in order to determine this case are not in the Alberta case.  


One is whether the cushion ‑‑ the surplus cushion gas is still useful.  And in Alberta, the asset was land.  Here, the asset is gas.  And for a gas utility, it is clearly arguable that all gas has a utility use, either as working gas or as company use gas, or, indeed, as cushion gas in another pool.


Secondly, it is arguable ‑ and this is perhaps saying the same thing in different words ‑ that it wasn't prudent for the company to replace a useful asset with another asset which is physically indistinguishable from it, but which costs a lot more. 


So those are two issues which the Alberta Board -- the Alberta Board did not have to deal with, the Alberta case doesn't deal with, but that you must deal with in order to decide this case.


There is another observation, which is a ‑‑ on sort of basic administrative procedure, and I'm not aware of any general principle or even of a precedent which encourages an administrative tribunal to adjourn a proceeding in the anticipation of a decision in another case.  


The law is always changing and it will always ‑‑ there will always be another case elsewhere in the world, in Canada, in a different province, in our own province, dealing with items that are before tribunals.  And when that happens, I don't see that as a reason to postpone your obligations to decide the case which is before you.  So I don't ‑‑ I am not aware that there has been any decision which suggests that this is, as a general rule, regarded as a reason to allow an adjournment.  


Finally, if you do proceed, I think in order to ensure that there is no prejudice to the ratepayers ‑ apart from these earlier rights to claim interest ‑ I think it would be necessary for Union to undertake or for the Board to direct Union not to take any steps to sell off the balance of the cushion gas that it has available until after this Board has made its determination, and, indeed, that should apply to any other asset that Union is contemplating a sale of.  Thank you, sir.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Ryder.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Ryder, could you clarify for me, please?   You mentioned something about an asset that replaces or replaced cushion gas being more expensive.  What are you referring to, sir?


MR. RYDER:  Well, the asset that is being sold here is gas, and it is undistinguishable from gas that is used for other purposes.


MR. VLAHOS:  I see, okay.


MR. RYDER:  Either as working gas or as company‑use gas or as ‑‑ 


MR. VLAHOS:  That's fine, sir.  I understood that part.  I wasn't sure whether the cushion gas itself was replaced by something else.


MR. RYDER:  There could be a need for further cushion gas in the not too distant future.


MR. KAISER:  You're not suggesting here they sold cheap gas and replaced it with expensive gas?


MR. RYDER:  I'm saying they sold cheap gas that will have to be ‑‑ that could have been used as gas for utility uses and that the gas that is otherwise having to be used for utility uses will be purchased at today's market prices.  


Compressive fuel gas, for 2005, will be costing market prices.  They could have used this gas.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Penny, are there any other gas sales being contemplated between now and when we might get a decision from the Supreme Court?


MR. PENNY:  There are none ‑‑ I know there are none contemplated at the moment.  You may recall that the discussion of this issue, the big-picture discussion of this in the evidence, is that Union staged these sales to monitor the performance of the pools to ensure that their analysis was correct.  


And I believe that the current situation is that they have not -- since the last sale have not, in effect, bottomed out in the pool, so they tested the proposition at this point in time.  So they actually haven't gone through a cycle yet which enables them to test the proposition of whether going further would create any problem.


So there aren't any current plans to do that, but other than I don't ‑‑ I don't know when, and I don't think anyone knows when, that technical issue -- you know, when that technical bridge might be crossed.  And I can't say that if it were crossed and market circumstances were favourable, that the company wouldn't decide to sell additional gas.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Ryder is asking for an undertaking that you won't.  Do you have a problem with that?

MR. PENNY:  Well, I do, in a sense that -- and Mr. Ryder expanded that to include other assets -- we shouldn't be selling any assets.  I mean, assets are sold, sometimes not in the ordinary course, sometimes in the ordinary course, depending, I guess, on how big they are, and so on.  And it seems to me that it would be inappropriate to put restrictions on that, given that we don't know what the outcome is.  
     I mean, you have to remember that there are very significant ratepayer benefits.  Mr. Ryder is focusing on one aspect of this, only, which is the capital gain.  But there are very significant benefits to ratepayers that result -- that resulted from this disposition, which was the creation of, I guess, to date around, roughly, I think, 4 Bcf of storage at literally no cost.
     And that comes home -- that benefit comes home directly to the ratepayers by virtue of Union's ability to market that additional space, and generate incremental revenue which is shared 75 percent to the customers. 
     So Mr. Ryder's concern is -- with respect, is chewing off his big toe, that if that opportunity is there, why shouldn't the company do it?  Because it benefits customers, it benefits Ontario, because it creates storage for nothing.  Literally nothing.  
     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.
     MR. PENNY:  What I can say about that, Mr. Chairman, is that -- that, as we did before, those sales would be tracked.  There would be no secret about it.  And if the Board wanted to ensure that that was the case, it could repeat what it said before.  But I can tell you, we do that in any event.  So if there are -- I can certainly undertake that if there are further cushion gas sales, that they will be, you know, revealed and they will be tracked and the amounts involved will be available.  And, if parties are right in their position that they're entitled to some or all of that, then they will equally participate in any further sales.  
     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Thompson?  
     MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
     Just dealing with this correspondence that I made reference to, Mr. Wightman has been good enough to provide me with some of the relevant correspondence.  
     I should say that the question -- the issue with respect to cushion gas was raised in a letter that I wrote on November the 15th.  And I will just read the paragraph in the record, as to what was said in that letter: 

“Another transaction that should be considered when earnings sharing in the December 31, 2004, deferral account balances are being considered, is the gain of 13 million which Union realized on its disposition in the second quarter of 2004 of some cushion gas.  This gain is noted at pages 2 and 4 of Union's report to shareholders for the second quarter of 2004, which can be downloaded from Union's website.  To our knowledge, this gain realized on the sale of natural gas commodity, has not yet been recorded by Union in any of its gas commodity deferral accounts.  Union's shareholder is not supposed to realize gains or losses from its sale of gas commodity.” 

So that was where the request was raised.  And then Union wrote a letter to the Board on November 16th, which I don't have.  But Mr. Wightman's provided my letter of the 17th where I, in the second paragraph, address earnings sharing and disposition of deferral account balances and posed the question: 

“Does Union accept that the ratepayers are entitled to interest on the amount payable from January 1, 2004?  Or is that a disputed issue, which the Board will need to resolve?”  

Then I go on in the next paragraph and make reference to the cushion gas issue, which -- I say their letter makes no reference to this issue.  And the question is:

“Does Union agree that this issue can be considered when earnings sharing and the December 31, 2004, deferral accounts balances are being considered?”

Then I ask for clarification.  And then Union's response is November 18th, the second document that Mr. Wightman has provided.  And the interest acknowledgment - Mr. Penny is right - appears to be confined to earnings sharing.  And in their response to my question about cushion gas, he said:

“The appropriate time to raise the cushion gas issue would be in the context of dealing with earnings sharing in the 2004 deferral accounts.”

I guess I read that to incorporate the acknowledgment with respect to interest that had been made in the prior paragraph.  But, technically, it doesn't address the topic, and, technically, my request didn't address the topic.  So it may well be a disputed issue.  It may well go to the question of prejudice.  
     We will take the position that you have authority to grant interest on any amount allocated to ratepayers, from the date the claim was first made.  So that would date back to November the 15th of 2004.  
     MR. LYLE:  Mr. Thompson, before you move on from there, perhaps I could mark those documents as exhibits. 
     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay. 
     MR. LYLE:  The letter of November 17th, from yourself, to be marked as Exhibit G1.7. 

EXHIBIT NO. G1.7:  LETTER OF MR. THOMPSON TO MR. PENNY, DATED NOVEMBER 17TH, 2004
MR. LYLE:  And the response of Union on November 18th

we will mark as Exhibit G1.8.  

EXHIBIT NO. G1.8:  LETTER OF MR. PENNY TO MR. THOMPSON, DATED NOVEMBER 18TH, 2004
MR. THOMPSON:  On the question of whether the question of the hearing of evidence and argument with respect to this cushion gas disposition issue should be deferred, it is my client's position that you appear to have two options.  One is you can proceed to hear the evidence and argument now, and reserve your decision until the Supreme Court of Canada renders its decision, or you can defer a hearing of the evidence and arguments to a date after the Supreme Court has rendered its decision.
     We submit it is open to you to adopt either course.  And you should adopt the one that, in your view, minimizes prejudice and best serves the public interest.  
     On the question of the need to defer the decision, and the question of deferring the evidence and arguments pertaining to the issue, your Procedural Order No. 3 raised this issue and it was unclear to us what you were asking the parties to address.        

In the Procedural Order No. 3 - and there is a copy of this at tab 5 of EGD's brief of materials - in the preamble to the order on page 2, the Board says this:

“With respect to contested Issue 4 in the proposed settlement agreement, the Board observes that the outcome of the appeal of the decision in the Alberta Court of Appeal in the ATCO case” --

I'm paraphrasing -- 
          “scheduled to be argued before the Supreme Court

of Canada in May 2005, may be relevant to the Board's determination of the issue.”

And then, in paragraph 3 of the order, you call for submissions from the parties on whether the evidence -- the hearing of evidence and arguments in respect of issue 4 should be deferred pending the decision -- the ATCO decision in the Supreme Court of Canada.  If the only material to be considered with respect to your observation is whether the ATCO Court of Appeal decision is or is not relevant, our submissions would be -- to you would be to refrain from deferring the hearing with respect to cushion gas, because the Court of Appeal decision in ATCO is clearly distinguishable from the cushion gas issue in this case.  
     The view we take of the Court of Appeal decision in ATCO is that it pertains to the ambit of the Alberta Energy Utility Board's jurisdiction, in a proceeding pertaining to an approval from its regulator for a disposition of non-utility assets, to require an allocation of the portion of the gain for the benefit of ratepayers.  
     The case, on its facts, does not apply, in our submission, and has no relevance to a regulator's powers to allocate gains realized on what is clearly a sale of utility assets.  And in this case, we're dealing with an exercise by your Board, of your rate‑making jurisdiction, not your approval of asset disposition jurisdiction.


So from a jurisdictional facts perspective, we regard the ATCO case as clearly distinguishable, and it will remain clearly distinguishable whether the Supreme Court of Canada appeal is allowed or dismissed, and that analysis is based entirely on the ATCO ‑‑ the ambit, the factual ambit, of the ATCO decision.


Our position on the cushion gas issue is that cushion gas is clearly a utility asset.  It is required by Union to provide utility service.  Gas in storage in utility rate base consists of co-mingled cushion gas and inventory gas.  Any excess cushion gas becomes inventory gas, and any shortage in cushion gas results in a re-classification of inventory gas to cushion gas.  


So our position is that any shortage of cushion gas will be operationally satisfied from inventory and that whether it is excess cushion or shortage of cushion, it should be accounted for at the WACOG of inventory.  When gas moves from cushion to inventory, it rolls into inventory at its original cost and adjusts the WACOG.


 One way or the other, it is our position that all proceeds of a sale of so‑called excess cushion gas should be treated the same as the proceeds of a sale of excess inventory gas and flow through to the benefit of ratepayers.  So that is our position.  But it does illustrate, in my submission, that what we are dealing with here is co-mingled gas, which is clearly a utility asset.  And if you confine your analysis to the ATCO decision, then in our view there is no impediment to proceeding immediately to hear any ‑‑ the evidence and argument on the cushion gas issue.


However, Union's letter of, I think it is April 22nd, which followed the issuance of your procedural order, this didn't contribute to your observations.  It's a ‑‑ something that followed the observation reflected in the procedure order.  And that letter, which Mr. Penny referenced in his submissions, is found at page 52 of his material.  


And what it indicates is that Union has planned challenge to the Board's jurisdiction to deal with the cushion gas issue.  It is a threat to bring a bias motion.


My submission is, to you, you should ignore the threat of the bias motion.  It is based on the evidence that the Board had filed in its motion for intervention in the ATCO case in the Supreme Court of Canada, and that material was dated in early March, March the 4th, I believe, and it is now -- when Union wrote its letter, that is a lapse of time of seven weeks, and they have done nothing with respect to this threatened bias motion and you should ignore the threat; give no weight to the Johnny‑come‑lately threatened bias motion.  React to it only if and when it is filed and, otherwise, as I say, ignore it.  


That you should ignore this threat, though, doesn't necessarily mean you should consider what has been said by the Board in the materials in the Supreme Court of Canada in deciding whether or not to defer the hearing of evidence and arguments in connection with this matter.  


And that motion to intervene made by the Board is contained in Union's materials.  I think it is at page 23.  And one of the paragraphs I think Mr. Penny referred to, and it is the paragraph that is of concern to IGUA, is that, at page 23:

"One of the grounds of the motion is that the Court of Appeals decision, if broadly interpreted and upheld by this honourable court, could prevent the utility regulators, such as the OEB, from taking proceeds of sale of utility assets into account when setting rates for utility and services."


I appreciate that is a concession, if you will, that the Board made to persuade the court that it should be permitted to intervene, and I appreciate the Board's position before the Supreme Court of Canada is to persuade the court to confine the ambit of its decision within narrow limits.  But the grounds of the motion and the material in support does allow for the possibility that a decision of the Supreme Court of Canada in ATCO might adversely affect your jurisdiction.  


So in that context, we have some difficulty with the proposition that you would hear the evidence and argument and decide the issue before the Supreme Court delivered its decision.


My client has instructed me to express some concerns with the process that was followed here with respect to this ATCO decision.  It's unclear to IGUA why the Board would make a concession of this nature in the Supreme Court, when the ATCO case is clearly distinguishable insofar as the cushion gas issue in this case is concerned.  


The ratepayers that my client represents consume about 80 BCF of gas in this province.  They're about 65 percent of Union's load, and they do not agree with that concession and they will argue to the contrary at the first opportunity.  


But the process that was followed here is of concern to IGUA, and it's with some regret that ratepayer representatives did not receive any advance notice of the Board's plan to proceed in this fashion.  According to material in the Supreme Court of Canada, which the Board will have in its possession, the affidavit filed by Enbridge Consumers Gas indicated that the Board solicitor gave Enbridge and Union a copy of the motion for the planned intervention.  I believe it's an affidavit of Mr. Nellis that indicates this at one of the paragraphs.


So that has precipitated EGD's application and Union's application to intervene in the Supreme Court of Canada, but we don't have any ratepayer representatives before that Court, and this is of concern to my client.


In terms of process, my client suggests that where the Board is concerned about the possible implications for its jurisdiction of a decision in another jurisdiction, the process that should be considered in priority to what's been adopted here is the process that was adopted years ago when the National Energy Board rendered a decision granting Cyanamid a bypass pipeline to, in effect, bypass the EGD system.  


The Board's reaction to that was to state a case for the opinion of the Divisional Court, and the advantage of that process is that it allows clients like my client to consider whether it is in their interest to participate in the process.  We view that as preferable to the Board seeking to become an adversarial litigant in a proceeding between parties -- to proceedings before a regulator in another jurisdiction.

One of the problems that has fallen out of this process is that the order granting the Board and Union and EGD leave to intervene allows for no oral submissions, and that is in Mr. Penny's material.  So we're concerned about the prospects of an incomplete record before the Supreme Court of Canada, because Union, in its material in the Supreme Court of Canada, asserts, in our view quite wrongly, that cushion gas falls within the ambit of the ATCO decision.


So that's a concern that we have.  It's water under the bridge now.  The process is what it is, but we believe that it does preclude, on fairness grounds, a decision being rendered by you with respect to the cushion gas issue before the Supreme Court has rendered its decision in ATCO.  


Unless there are any questions, those are my submissions.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson.  Mr. Shepherd.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. SHEPHERD:

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  The School Energy Coalition echoes the concerns expressed by Mr. Thompson with respect to how the Board has handled the Supreme Court of Canada participation, but we don't agree that the result is a perception of bias that prevents the Board from deciding it's own jurisdiction.


However, I think rather than make submissions with respect to bias and the potential for recusal, et cetera, I think we would like to save that for if and when Mr. Penny makes his motion, and then we will hear his submissions and be able to respond to them.  I think it is not appropriate to make those submissions now.


With respect to the instant question of whether we should ‑‑ whether this Board should defer hearing this matter, I think we start from the observation that the ATCO decision is not news.  This ATCO decision is January '04, 15 months ago.  Leave was granted to appeal to the Supreme Court of Canada in October '04. 


Since that time, the Board has at least twice asserted the same jurisdiction that my friends now say is in issue at the Supreme Court of Canada, first on December 9th, '04 when the Board issues ‑‑ issued its interpretive guidelines for the Affiliate Relationships Code, in which it expressly said its policy is that gains on non‑depreciable assets are shared 50/50.  And that, in fact, is referred to in the Board's ‑‑ in the Board's factum before the Supreme Court of Canada as just another example of the Board's continued position on this.


Secondly, the 2006 EDR handbook contains ‑ I will just find the quote - in section 4.7.1, a specific provision in which the parties agreed, and the Board is asked to approve, a statement that says:  

"The treatment of capital gains and losses on non‑depreciable assets sold to a non‑affiliate will be determined by the Board on a case-by-case basis, subject to the materiality thresholds outlined in another section.  Capital gains and losses that fall below the materiality threshold will be shared between ratepayers and the shareholder on a 50/50 basis in determining the applicant's revenue requirement."


The Board has received this and it was clearly, throughout the EDR process, an issue that the parties resolved.  I believe ‑‑ I haven't had a chance to look at the submissions, but I believe, in fact, the parties would have made submissions on the merits of that.


We agree with Mr. Ryder that there are often court cases outstanding that could impact the OEB's jurisdiction.  We think whenever you have a jurisdiction issue put before you, you should be deciding, based on binding decisions of the courts, persuasive decisions of courts, your own legislation, the particular facts of the case, and, of course, your past practice, not from a stare decisis point of view, but for consistency.   


What the Board should not do, in our view, is grind to a halt because some court - in this case, it's the Supreme Court of Canada, but some court - is considering some jurisdictional issue that might impact on the Board's jurisdiction.


This is a precedent, we think, that is inappropriate for this Board to accept.  The Board, in our view, has a consistent practice of exercising jurisdiction on this particular issue, sharing of gains and losses on non‑depreciable assets, and, in fact, it has a fairly consistent way of dealing with it when it is presented to them.  It should continue, in our view, to exercise that jurisdiction unless there is a court decision that says you can't.  


And so, therefore, we've heard nothing, today, that tells us that anything has changed from either last December or February.  In fact, I would ask you the question, and I think if you are inclined to favour Mr. Penny's position, I think it may be incumbent on the Board to deal with this:  What is the status of the guidelines on the ARC, if this Board is saying we're not going to deal with this right now, we have to wait and see whether the Supreme Court will let us?  


What is the status of the 2006 EDR handbook?  Is this Board now going to have to wait, or is it going to have to decide on the handbook, but leave this issue outstanding for the 98 electric utilities, as well?


In our view, this Board can't simply grind to a halt.  You have to accept the situation as it presents itself to you right now.  There is nothing new that wasn't true a year ago that would make you say that your jurisdiction has changed.  If the Supreme Court in the fall or next spring, or whenever, says that was wrong, then you have to deal with it.  But let's not solve a problem that you don't have.


Finally, on a less weighty matter, the question of interest.  We agree that if the Board does decide that it wishes to defer this, it is appropriate to establish a deferral account today so that the issue of whether there is interest from today is not in doubt, and the issue of whether there should be interest to today can be argued, as Mr. Penny said, later.  


Those are our submissions.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  Mr. Pinto.  


MR. PINTO:  CME doesn't take a position on the issue of whether you should defer a hearing pending the Supreme Court decision.  I don't have any further submissions on that.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Janigan.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. JANIGAN:


MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  

We support Mr. Penny's request to defer the hearing of this issue until the ATCO case is decided in the Supreme Court of Canada.  We do so for several reasons.  Firstly, there is at least one result - namely, a successful appeal and restoration of the AEUB decision - that will be wholly dispositive of the Union position.  We cannot envision a scenario where that would occur and Union can maintain its current position with respect to the denial of rights to the cushion gas -- or a share in the cushion gas proceeds.


Secondly, holding a hearing following the Supreme Court of Canada decision will remove any question of a failure to follow any general regulatory principle that may be articulated in the Supreme Court of Canada decision whether as part of the reasons for judgment or indicta in that case.  However, there are three additional points we would like to make with respect to a potential deferral.


First, a Board decision to defer should be sterilized of any inference that the Supreme Court of Canada ATCO case will, in whatever result, automatically bind the Board's determination of this issue or that the facts and law associated with this case are congruent with the current issue.


Secondly, we believe that a Board decision to defer should be sterilized of any inference that there is a real apprehension of bias concerning the Board's proceeding to hear this matter.  We believe that any such inference would represent an undue restriction on the Board's ability to advance the public interest in courts of competent jurisdiction.  That does not, however, mean that VECC is in concurrence with the procedure that was adopted by the Board in relation to this particular appeal, but we would feel that to adopt a premise that this ‑‑ the procedure that was adopted shows a ‑‑ or manifests an apprehension of bias would be problematic, to say the least.


Thirdly, at a minimum, the rights of ratepayers to secure a share of the cushion gas proceeds and an appropriate quantum of such amount will not be prejudiced or diminished by the deferral of this matter.  Those are our submissions.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Janigan.  Mr. Scully, do you have anything?


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. SCULLY:

MR. SCULLY:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  We're persuaded by Mr. Shepherd's position that if your jurisdiction is up for grabs somewhere, that you should get your licks in first and proceed to make your own decision on that very crucial question.  If Mr. Penny then has a motion to preclude you from proceeding with doing that, let's deal with it when it comes down.  


We don't feel that you're inhibited by your counsel's representation made in the notice of motion before the Supreme Court, as suggested by Mr. Thompson.  We regard that merely as representation that was made to obtain the standing that you sought and it's not a binding position for the Board.


On the question of interest, I think it would be appropriate to make a ruling that there is a deferral account as of today's date and to consider whether it can be made retroactive.  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Scully.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Scully, sorry, I did not hear the last part of your submission about the deferral account.  Could you repeat that, please.


MR. SCULLY:  I think that it would be appropriate for you to establish a deferral account as of today's date and to address the matter of whether it could be made retroactive, considering the correspondence that we have examined.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  That's retroactive to the date of Mr. Thompson's letter?


MR. SCULLY:  That's correct.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Penny, any reply?  


REPLY SUBMISSIONS BY MR. PENNY:

MR. PENNY:  Yes, thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Let me deal first with this suggestion that there are ‑‑ the law is always changing and there is always cases that might affect jurisdiction.


This is a unique case, in my submission.  It doesn't come up all the time, but it has in this case, and that is a situation where the regulator, this Board, has sought to participate in the ATCO decision because it will affect its jurisdiction, or at least because of its belief that it will affect its jurisdiction, and that is made clear from the notice of motion and Mr. Vegh's affidavit and the factum that was filed.  


So the Board itself has considered that this issue has, at the very least, the potential to affect its jurisdiction.


With respect to -- in a similar vein, with respect to Mr. Thompson's submission that ATCO is entirely distinguishable on its facts and is of no relevance, I mean, that is fine for him to take that position.  


Lawyers, of course, take those positions on behalf of their clients.  But that was clearly not the view of the Board itself in this case.  That's the whole discussion in Mr. Vegh's affidavit about there is a narrow interpretation and a broad interpretation, and the ‑‑ without necessarily agreeing with that in the ultimate sense, it is ‑‑ there is ‑‑ it is a reasonable approach to the decision, and certainly it is capable, in its application, of applying to other rate powers, because you will recall that the AEUB had rate‑making powers and the powers to impose conditions and those are on the table in that argument. 


So to say it was restricted exclusively to section 26 and the power to approve dispositions is, in my submission, just not correct, or at least it is certainly on one interpretation not correct.


MR. KAISER:  So, Mr. Penny, are you saying that this Panel is bound by Mr. Vegh's arguments?


MR. PENNY:  I'm not sure that I would go so far as to say that you are bound by that, but it is a ‑‑


MR. KAISER:  Can't we take the position he is just a garden-variety lawyer?


MR. PENNY:  Well, Mr. Chairman, there is a point -- in all seriousness, there is a point underlying this, which is the capacity in which Mr. Vegh did that, and ‑‑


MR. KAISER:  So you say he is speaking for the Board?


MR. PENNY:  Absolutely.  There is no question that this is a Board application and intervention was not granted to Board staff.  That would be a different issue.


MR. KAISER:  He's not making argument.  He's swearing an affidavit and that is meant to reflect the Board's position; that's your position?


MR. PENNY:  Yes, that's my position.  And, in my submission, it is not only a reasonable inference, it is the only reasonable inference that one withdraw from that.  As to the situation of whether you, you three, this Panel of the Board, are stuck with that in a legal sense, I'm not sure I know the answer to that.  


I would certainly, on the ‑‑ in the context of the recusal issue, it would be my submission that it would be ‑‑ that you are; that it would be too much to expect that the Board, having taken the position it had, that individual panel members would take a different position.


So if that informs your question in this context, then maybe that is of some assistance, but I am afraid I can't help you any further on that.


Mr. Shepherd made reference to the interpretive guidelines in the EDR handbook.  All I can say to that is that those don't land on Union.  No issue arose with respect to Union and its conduct that caused the application of those things to us, so this is ‑‑ there was no reason for that issue to have come up, and whether ‑‑ and, frankly, I don't think there is any situation, certainly no evidence of any situation, where those ‑‑ either of those guidelines or handbooks was engaged.  


So the issue ‑‑ the issue simply still lies there as a potential or a nascent issue.  So that is of no assistance, in my submission.


With respect to this issue of whether you're grinding to a halt, well, that's just rhetoric, of course, and sophistry, in my submission.  I know through personal experience that courts do this all the time and that where there is a pending Supreme Court decision, an imminently pending Supreme Court decision or Court of Appeal decision on an issue that is of significant importance to an issue, that ‑‑ I've been involved in a number of situations where that -- it just gets parked for a few months to see what happens.  And the reason, of course, is because it makes sense, from a process and efficiency point of view, to do that.


So in my submission, there is no suggestion that anything is grinding to a halt.  


The final point I wanted to make comes back to this deferral account issue.  The gain was recorded in 2004 income.  So in my submission - I'm going to repeat myself a little bit, but then take it further - the issue of a deferral account was squarely raised and was rejected.  


The event has now already taken place, so my starting point is that that ‑‑ that deferral accounts are not and this Board has consistently refused to establish deferral accounts to capture out-of-period amounts or amounts that have already arisen, and that would be retroactive, which, in my submission, again, the Board doesn't have the power to affect rates on a retroactive basis.  


But the more practical point I wanted to make was, because it's been recorded in 2004 earnings, if there were a deferral, it would create some significant accounting issues for Union, because they would have to then take $12 million out of ‑- they would have to, in effect, restate its financial statements, take that out earnings, park it in this deferral account, and then with the possibility that, if we're right at least, that it all goes back again in six months or a year's time.  So in our submission, it is not necessary, and it creates a significant complexity and prejudicial issue for Union with respect to its accounting.


I say it is not necessary, because the Board either -- you know, I don't disagree with Mr. Thompson in this sense on the issue, that the Board either has the jurisdiction and the power to -- if it has the jurisdiction to allocate the gain, and then it either has the jurisdiction to, as well, add interest to that or not.  And if it does, then that will be awarded to the ratepayers and the customers.  And Union, as I say, is good for the money, so there is no issue there, in my submission.  


So that's all I have to say in reply.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  We will take the afternoon break now and come back in half an hour.


‑‑‑ Recess taken at 3:45 p.m.


‑‑‑ On resuming at 4:08 p.m.


MR. PENNY:  Thank you.  The issue I wanted to get instructions on arose from a question that you put to me about interest.  And we thought this through and spoke with senior management, and what I have been instructed to say is that if ‑‑ if the -‑ if customers are ultimately found to be entitled to some portion of this gain, Union would concede that interest would attach to that amount.


MR. VLAHOS:  Since?


MR. KAISER:  From what date?


MR. PENNY:  From what date the Board deems appropriate.  And I think I would like to leave that one open for argument, as to what that date is, but it would at least be today and I think we would go so far as to concede that.  And that deals with the deferral problem, I think, if it's at least today, and whether it is November 19th, as Mr. Thompson said, or whether it goes right back to the beginning of time, that we would leave open for argument, but it would be no later than today.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. PENNY:  I don't know if that helps, but I thought that of the solutions to that problem, that seemed to us to be the most efficient and the most straightforward, so wanted to let you know that we were prepared to do that, because I had earlier said that I wasn't sure we were.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Penny.  


RULING ON MOTION BY UNION GAS LIMITED:

MR. KAISER:  The Board has heard submissions with respect to item 3 of its Procedural Order of April 21st.  This is with respect to the proposed settlement agreement that was filed with the Board on April 7th, and particularly with Issue No. 4, which is the disposition of gains from the sale of cushion gas.


This matter was referred to this proceeding by the Board in its decision of November 19th, 2004, and Union filed evidence and was responding to the Board's decision.  The parties in the settlement proceedings were unable to reach any agreement.


One of the issues relates to the jurisdiction of this Board; does the Board have the legislative or implied authority in its governing legislation to allocate those gains between customers and ratepayers.


In this regard, the Panel has been referred to the decision of the Alberta Court of Appeal in the ATCO Gas and Pipeline case with respect to the Alberta Energy and Utilities Board.  In that case a decision, which was rendered January 27th, 2004, by the Court of Appeal in Alberta, held that the Alberta Board had no express or implied authority in its governing legislation to allocate the proceeds from the sale of certain assets after the recovery of the original costs.


That matter has been appealed, we are advised, to the Supreme Court of Canada by the City of Calgary.  This Board has intervened in that proceeding, as indeed have Union Gas and Enbridge.  That was back on March 4th.  We are told that argument will be heard by the Supreme Court of Canada on May 11th, although those particular intervenors will be limited to written argument through their factums.


The issue then is whether, in considering this matter today, we should proceed with the hearing or whether we should defer the hearing.  Alternatively, we could proceed with the hearing and defer the decision.


The guiding principle, this Panel believes, is to arrive at a solution that is practical and efficient and reduces costs for the parties involved.  Given that the argument in this case is not far away, a matter of weeks, and given that we're advised that a decision can be expected to be received in September, there is some wisdom in waiting for the Supreme Court to rule on this.  


As Mr. Penny says, the results of the Supreme Court of Canada decision may, at the minimum, be relevant and possibly even determinative of this issue.  We, of course, make no judgment on that, except to say that both cases do deal with the sale of non‑depreciable assets and the question of whether those gains should be allocated between ratepayers and shareholders.


More to the point is the question of whether there is any prejudice in delay.  There seems to be none, at least in light of Mr. Penny's most recent advice with respect to interest.  We have heard submissions from various parties with respect to interest. 


This Board orders two things:  One, that we will defer our hearing on this matter until the Supreme Court of Canada rules; secondly, that at least as of today's date, Union Gas should establish a deferral account to track the interest on the amount of the gain, which we understand to be in the area of $12 million.


We leave open the right of any party to argue at a later date, if and when this Board determines that monies are owing to ratepayers, that the interest should go back to an earlier date.  That issue can be left to a subsequent hearing.  But certainly we are ordering the utility to start tracking the interest as of today's date, and an order will go to that effect.


That completes the Board's ruling on this matter.  Any questions?


MR. PENNY:  No questions.  Thank you very much.


MR. LYLE:  I just have one question of clarification, Mr. Chair.  You indicated you were deferring the Board's decision in the matter.  I take it that would also mean also deferring the hearing of --


MR. KAISER:  I meant deferring the Board's hearing with respect to this matter.


MR. LYLE:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.


‑‑‑ Whereupon the hearing concluded at 4:22 p.m.
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